

# Beyond the office walls: Exploring trust and knowledge sharing in the hybrid work setting

-A qualitative study on employees' perception of the challenges and opportunities when adopting the hybrid work setting

Author: Erica Bredberg

Supervisors: Daniel Ljungberg & Fabian Homberg

#### **Abstract**

The covid-19 pandemic has led to many changes for organizations and has accelerated the shift from a traditional work model to a hybrid one. The purpose of this study is to deepen the understanding of how trust and knowledge sharing have been impacted by the hybrid work setting from an employee's perspective. To achieve this, the study uses a qualitative approach with an abductive design. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with Swedish employees from three different industries that operate in the greater area of Gothenburg, Sweden. The findings show that there are challenges in building non-work-related relationships which have a negative effect on trust as well as creating trust with new colleagues. Further, the findings show that explicit knowledge has been impacted positively while tacit knowledge has been impacted negatively. The hybrid work setting has given more flexibility to employees, which has positively affected their work-life balance and enhanced productivity.

Keywords: Trust, knowledge sharing, explicit knowledge, tacit knowledge, hybrid work, remote work, digital communication

Acknowledgment

I would like to thank the respondents that participated and agreed to be interviewed in this

master thesis and extend my gratitude to them for providing valuable insights and sharing

their experiences with me.

I want to thank my supervisors Daniel Ljungberg from the University of Gothenburg, and

Fabian Homberg from the Luiss Guido Carli University in Rome for their support and

feedback throughout my thesis. They have given valuable advice and guided me through the

process which has made it possible for this thesis to be concluded.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family for their support and encouragement

during my whole master's degree. I want to give a special thanks to my close friends from my

double degree program who have been my extra family through this journey and made every

experience special and unforgettable.

Gothenburg, 31/05-2023

Erica Bredberg

## Table of contents

1.0 Introduction	1
1.1 Problem Statement	2
1.1.2 Research Aim & Research Question	3
2.0 Literature Review	4
2.1 Trust	4
2.2 Knowledge Sharing	7
2.3 Virtual Work Setting	9
2.4 Physical Work Setting	10
2.5 Hybrid Work Setting	11
2.6 Digital Work & Communication	12
3.0 Method	16
3.1 Research Strategy	16
3.2 Research Design.	17
3.3 Data Collection	18
3.4 Data Analysis	19
3.5 Research Quality	21
3.5.1 Trustworthiness	21
3.5.2 Authenticity	22
3.5.3 Ethical Consideration	22
4.0 Findings	24
4.1 Understanding the hybrid work setting and work tools	24
4.2 Communication	25
4.2.1 Informal & Spontaneous Communication	25
4.2.2 Digital Communication	27
4.3 Work relations	32
4.3.1 Building and maintaining relationships	32
4.3.2 Collaborations	34
4.4 Work culture	36
4.4.1 Strategies and work structure	39
5.0 Analysis	41
5.1 Communication	41
5.1.2 Informal & Spontaneous Communication	41
5.1.3 Digital Communication	43

5.2 Work Relations	44
5.2.1 Building & Maintaining Relationships	44
4.2.2 Collaborations	45
5.3 Work Culture	47
5.3.1 Strategies & Work Structure	49
6.0 Conclusion	51
6.1 Answer to Research Question	51
6.2 Implications & Contributions	52
6.2.1 Theoretical Implications	52
6.2.2 Practical Implications	53
6.2 Limitations & Future Research	54
7.0 References	56
7.1 Articles	56
7.2 Books, Documents, Report, and Managerial Articles	59
8.0 Appendix	60
8.1 Appendix 1. Interview guide	60
8.2 Appendix 2. Consent form	63

## 1.0 Introduction

Organizations that operate in today's global environment face several difficulties and must be flexible in the ever-changing organizational and global environment. An effective strategy for achieving a competitive advantage in this dynamic context is to foster creativity and innovation within the organization. Research has consistently shown that knowledge sharing plays a significant role in driving creativity, innovation, and personal and organizational performance (Gagné et al., 2019). The authors further describe that despite this evidence, organizations have trouble with employees withholding knowledge and information, although different ways of encouragement for knowledge sharing are implemented (i.e., open space office). Patel (2019) proposes in his article that an organization can create innovation and knowledge sharing by focusing on four different practices: by creating a unified vision, motivating teams to collaborate, building online spaces for sharing, and fostering cross-departmental interaction.

Researchers consistently emphasize that an organization's success relies upon their ability to share knowledge effectively and efficiently. This ability plays a crucial role in gaining and maintaining a competitive advantage in the dynamic and evolving business environment. They further argue that trust between employees' facilities for effective knowledge sharing (Ouakouak & Ouedraogo, 2019; Williams & Schubert, 2018). Thus, making trust an important factor that can significantly influence an organization's ability to share knowledge and ultimately determine its success in the business market.

The pandemic that hit the world in 2019 forced many organizations to adapt and change to new circumstances. Working from home became a solution for minimizing the spread of the virus, meaning that employees were obliged to work from home and conduct all communication via different online platforms (i.e., Teams, Zoom, Webex, Slack, Google Drive). This adjustment meant that new issues and opportunities arose for both organizations and employees, and several effects are now presented. Statista (2021) conducted online interviews in Sweden, asking employees how many days they wanted to work from home after the pandemic. Nearly two-thirds (sixty-one percent) said they wanted to continue working from home two to three days a week. Ninety-four percent stated that they wanted to work from home for at least one day, indicating that only six percent said they did not want to continue working from home.

These results indicate that organizations may need to adapt their policies regarding where employees can work after the pandemic, to facilitate their employees' desire to be more flexible and work in a hybrid setting. However, it is important to recognize that the hybrid work setting presents new challenges for organizations. Communication, relationship building, and trust among employees may become more complex in a hybrid work setting, potentially impacting sharing of knowledge within an organization.

The trend in Sweden shows that the adaptation of the hybrid work setting is increasing, suggesting that this work model may soon be the new normal for employees and organizations. Svanberg (2022) writes that both employees and organizations believe that a return to a pre-pandemic working model is unlikely and that a hybrid work setting is here to stay. Moreover, a survey conducted by McKinsey, which included nearly three hundred executives, revealed that on average, executives plan to reduce office space by thirty percent as they intend to continue offering a hybrid work setting. These trends clearly indicate the growing adaptation of a hybrid work setting, driven and accelerated by the Covid-19 pandemic. This shift towards a hybrid work setting, which combines working from home and in the office, presents both opportunities and challenges for organizations. On one hand, it offers employees increased flexibility and increased work-life balance, but on the other hand, it poses challenges for the important organizational elements of communication, relationship building, trust development and knowledge sharing among employees.

#### 1.1 Problem Statement

From earlier literature, it can be stated that trust among employees and in the organization plays an important role in knowledge sharing. Further, knowledge sharing is crucial in fostering an organization's innovation and creativity which can create a competitive advantage. Hybrid work is becoming an increasingly popular working model as the pandemic has accelerated the adaptation of this work model. Organizations and employees are facing new challenges and opportunities, and understanding the dynamics of trust and knowledge sharing in this context is becoming more relevant. The integration of new technologies and increase in virtuality pose unique challenges for building trust in organizations. Dirks & de Jong (2022) argue that as employees are no longer bound to physical offices, there is a growing need for research that address and seeks to understand the impact this work model has on trust and explore effective strategies to address these challenges.

#### 1.1.2 Research Aim & Research Question

This study can give organizations valuable insights into how to effectively foster trust and knowledge sharing among employees in hybrid work environments. By investigating the effects on trust and knowledge sharing in a hybrid work setting, this study can provide a deeper understanding of this specific phenomenon. The results of this study have the potential to be a basis when developing new policies and practices that support the fostering of trust and effective sharing of knowledge within organizations in the context of hybrid work. The purpose of this study is to deepen the understanding of how employees have experienced the change to a hybrid work setting and how this new work model can affect trust and knowledge sharing among employees. The aim of the study is to explore what factors influence the development of trust between employees and impact the flow of knowledge and identify possible challenges and opportunities this work model entails.

**Research question:** How does a hybrid work setting affect trust and knowledge sharing between employees?

## 2.0 Literature Review

In this section, earlier research on trust and knowledge sharing is presented. The focus is on how these two variables are affected in different work settings, such as virtual, physical, and hybrid settings. Literature regarding digital communication is further presented. The literature review is the main foundation for conducting the analysis.

#### 2.1 Trust

Mayer, Davis, & Schoorman (1995) defines trust as "The willingness of a party to be vulnerable to the actions of another party based on the expectation that the other will perform a particular action important to the trustor, irrespective of the ability to monitor or control that other party. This definition of trust is applicable to a relationship with another identifiable party who is perceived to act and react with volition toward the trustor" (Mayer, Davis, & Schoorman 1995, p.712). The authors state that trust is needed in an organization as achieving personal and organizational goals is often tied to working in teams and task interdependence (Mayer et al., 1995).

Literature on trust has grown over the last decades and is stated to be an essential part of fostering, maintaining, repairing, and elevating social relationships in the workplace (Dirks & de Jong, 2022). Authors such as Rousseau et al. (1998) and Mayer et al. (1995) published influential studies regarding organizational trust and following that, the research field of trust grew exponentially. As the literature on trust in an organizational context has grown, a great amount of research and knowledge has emerged in the field. Dirks and de Jong (2022) have reviewed research in this field and identified two waves that have shaped the field in important ways. During the first wave, from 1995 to 2007, conceptual clarification of trust was provided by introducing a definition of trust that became widely adopted by scholars (Dirks & de Jong, 2022). Further, the research in wave one provided a foundation for trust, its nomological network, and generally accepted theories. The second wave, from 2007 to 2021~ shifted the perspective from which trust was examined, from the trustor to the trustee. It also shifted from being studied at one level at a time i.e., team or leader, to cross-level models that integrated several variables. In wave two, research focused on understanding the dynamics of trust as the literature from wave one states that trust is a dynamic construct, but the research conducted tended to investigate trust as static (Dirks & de Jong, 2022). The authors conclude that the emergence of a third wave is a near certainty. Fundamental and disruptive changes

have appeared both in societies and in organizations that will have a significant impact on trust. New technologies in the workplace have intensified and opened up to virtuality which has been stated to create new challenges for building and maintaining trust in organizations. Further, the authors state that more fluid structures and roles are emerging in organizations, employees do not necessarily need to come into the office to work but can do so from home instead, a trend that has increased due to the pandemic (Dirks & de Jong, 2022). The authors conclude that these new trends will lead to major challenges for trust and that there is a need for research to understand the effect it can have on trust and how it can be addressed.

Trust has been widely researched in an organizational context and has been stated to play a critical role in the workplace (Koskinen et al., 2003; Imam & Zaheer, 2021; Ardichvili, 2008; Al-Alawi et al., 2007). Findings show that face-to-face interaction and mutual trust enhance knowledge sharing (Koskinen et al., 2003) and that trust has a mediating effect on knowledge sharing that in turn affects the success of a project or work task (Imam & Zaheer, 2021).

Al-Alawi et al (2007) state that interpersonal trust is a critical attribute in organizational culture and is strongly linked to knowledge sharing. It involves an individual or group's expectation of reliability in the promises or actions of others. When team members trust each other, they are more likely to respond openly and share their knowledge. Effective communication between staff is crucial to foster trust and knowledge transfer, and it goes beyond simply exchanging information. It involves human interaction, including conversations and body language, which are greatly enhanced by social networking within the physical workplace. Information systems are arrangements that support daily operations, problem-solving, and decision-making in organizations. They interact with people and data to facilitate efficient and effective knowledge transfer. Thus, effective communication, trust, and information systems are essential components of knowledge transfer in organizations (Al-Alawi et al., 2007).

In Abrams et al (2003) study, they found that creating personal connections was a factor that can help build trust. The researchers found that learning about common things that are not work-related helped in developing a relationship. Further, creating a non-work-related connection with a colleague seemed to have a positive outcome when promoting interpersonal trust. Ensuring frequent and rich communication is stated to have a critical role when creating trust. More frequent communication allows for more opportunities to assess a person and their relationship by learning about the other one's abilities, intentions, and

behaviors leading to the creation of trust in another one's competencies. The researchers further found that engaging in collaborative communication promotes interpersonal trust and stated that people tend to seek out those who tolerate brainstorming. Individuals are more likely to seek advice or information from people whom they trust and feel that they can rely on, as they believe that they will not be penalized for not knowing the information or having the answer themselves (Abrams et al., 2003).

Huang et al (2011) investigated how cognition-based trust and affect-based trust affect explicit and tacit knowledge sharing within an organization. Cognitive-based trust is defined as the trust individual has in another one's ability and competencies (McAllister, 1995). Further, affect-based trust is defined as the emotional bond between two individuals, where care and concern for one another are central, and is believed to be reciprocated, thus making the emotional ties between two individuals the link to create trust. Huang et al (2011) found that cognition-based trust has no significant effect on tacit or explicit knowledge sharing intentions and suggest that if cognition-based trust is established, an individual believes that there is no need to share knowledge as there is a belief that the other person is capable and have the competence already. However, the authors found that affect-based trust has a positive effect on knowledge sharing, thus arguing that affect-based trust is the dominant factor for sharing knowledge. Further, the affect-based trust had a stronger influence on explicit knowledge than on tacit knowledge.

Mäkelä & Brewster (2009) suggests that different interaction contexts are likely to have varying levels of trust-building effects and on how much shared experiences and interactions individuals have with one another. Shared experiences such as working in a team with handson projects are effective trust-builder as it creates a stronger shared experience base. Shared experiences help individuals to form a better understanding of each other as they are exposed to the other's tacit knowledge and language system, and it enables them to intuitively grasp the intended message (Mäkelä & Brewster, 2009). Different levels of interactions play a crucial role in fostering and building trust between individuals, researchers furthermore discuss the importance of frequent interactions. Abrams et al (2003) and Huang et al (2011) argue that more frequent interactions facilitate a deeper understanding of an individual's attributes it provides opportunities to observe their character, skills, and intentions and thereby fostering and establishing a stronger foundation for trust-building. Torro et al (2020) argue that individuals connect better when interacting face-to-face as their thoughts and understandings of each other align better compared to other communication channels. Visual

and auditory cues such as appearance, facial expressions, gestures, and tone of voice contribute significantly when building trust between two individuals.

## 2.2 Knowledge Sharing

Knowledge sharing is defined as "the process intended at exploiting existing knowledge, and knowledge sharing are, hence, defined as being about identifying existing and accessible knowledge, in order to transfer and apply this knowledge to solve specific tasks better, faster and cheaper than they would otherwise have been solved" (Holdt Christensen, 2007, p.37). Holdt Christensen (2007) states that knowledge sharing should not be viewed as a separate activity but instead as an ongoing activity and should be part of the process of overcoming interdependencies in an organization. Allen et al. (2015) define knowledge transfer as the process by which knowledge is disseminated from one individual to another within the organizational context. Effective knowledge transfer is crucial in the development of social capital and the optimization of organizational effectiveness in complex and intricate workplace environments. Successful task completion is dependent on the exchange of information and interactions among employees. However, physical separation or remote work may pose significant challenges to such interactions. Hence trust becomes a crucial component of knowledge transfer, and its establishment is more likely to occur through faceto-face communication as opposed to electronic communication. The prevalence of telecommuting in the modern workplace necessitates a need to examine trust's potential impact on knowledge transfer. Ensuring the preservation of interpersonal relationships and effective communication among employees is critical to mitigate any potential challenges that may arise in hybrid work settings (Allen et al., 2015).

Acquiring and leveraging knowledge is crucial for organizations to gain a sustainable competitive advantage in a dynamic economy (Wang & Noe, 2010). While staffing and training systems that focus on selecting and developing employees with specific knowledge, skills, abilities, or competencies are critical, organizations must also actively facilitate the transfer of expertise and knowledge from experienced employees to other colleagues (Wang & Noe, 2010). The authors state that to achieve this, organizations should prioritize and effectively utilize the knowledge-based resources already present within the organization. Knowledge sharing among employees and across teams is essential in this regard, as it enables employees to contribute to the use of knowledge, innovation, and the competitive advantage of the organization (Wang & Noe, 2010). Knowledge sharing has been proven to

have a positive relationship to the reduction of costs, quicker completion of NPD projects, increased team performance, organization's ability to innovate, and an organization's ability to perform in terms of sales growth and revenue (Collins & Smith, 2006; Mesmer-Magnus & DeChurch, 2009; Z. Wang & Wang, 2012).

The exchange of knowledge within an organization is crucial for its long-term success and competitive edge. Researchers present findings that knowledge sharing enhances organizational performance and job performance by utilizing knowledge more efficiently (Halisah et al., 2020; Cui et al., 2020; Abdelwhab Ali et al., 2019). Knowledge sharing can also lead to personal benefits for the employee such as increased pride, a sense of belonging with colleagues or the organization, more respect from others, a better reputation, and less alienation (Constant et al., 1994). The sharing of one's expertise or skills can make them feel more valued and appreciated by others (Matošková et al., 2022).

In a study conducted by Ouakouak & Ouadraogo (2019), it was found that personal trust did not have a significant impact on knowledge sharing, whereas professional trust did. However, it is also stated that personal trust has a significant impact on professional trust, thus making professional trust a mediator of the relationship between personal trust and knowledge sharing.

Explicit and tacit knowledge are two different forms that knowledge can be presented in. Explicit knowledge refers to knowledge that can be easily communicated, documented, and transferred between individuals. It is formally presented and well documented and can be stored and revisited (Huang et al., 2011; Schoenherr et al., 2014). Tacit knowledge is described as more implicit, derived from experience and is subjective, and often based on actions and behavior making it very ambiguous. Compared to explicit knowledge, tacit knowledge is harder to transfer as it is often a result from learning by doing and sharing experiences over time. Explicit knowledge can more easily be shared as it can be codified, written down and distributed whereas tacit knowledge is more difficult to share as it is embodied in actions and routines (Ouakouak & Ouedraogo, 2019). Schoenherr et al (2014) further state that explicit knowledge is connected to more formal interactions and communication while tacit knowledge is connected and generated within collaborative relationships.

## 2.3 Virtual Work Setting

Trust is described as a key element not only in the physical workplace but also in virtual communities when sharing knowledge (Ardichvili, 2008; Chiu et al., 2006). Professional virtual communities view the willingness of individuals to share knowledge as a significant concern, and trust is considered a critical factor in facilitating knowledge sharing. Therefore, it is crucial to establish a comprehensive framework of trust for knowledge sharing in professional virtual community environments (Hsu et al., 2007). To establish interpersonal knowledge-based trust in virtual work teams, Ardichivili (2008) recommends combining online community interactions with teleconferences and some in-person meetings. Further, the author describes the role of the institutional trust theory that suggests that individuals may participate in a community mainly composed of strangers if they have trust in the integrity and policies of the organization as a whole. Ardichivili (2008) suggests that to foster this type of trust, organizations should make their expectations and procedures transparent through clear and widely accessible communication. This can be done by establishing and communicating a set of institutional norms that promote institution-based trust. These norms should indicate that knowledge sharing is an organizational expectation and a moral responsibility for all employees and that the organization trusts their loyalty, competency, and ethical standards (Ardichvili, 2008).

Jawadi et al. (2013) argue that despite earlier findings, leadership that takes place virtually should not only be focusing on task-related activities but also on social activities. Leaders should pay attention to social activities to motivate and enhance the participation of the employees and reach effective task success. There is a need for leaders to express empathy and show concern for their employees to reach high-quality exchanges (Jawadi et al., 2013). Further, the authors state that relationship-building practices in virtual teams need to be reconsidered and that team members' feelings need to be taken into consideration. By encouraging the employees to express their opinions, pay attention to their different needs, and try to reach a consensus amongst team members, leaders can more easily foster and maintain trust in virtual teams. The social context of virtual teams should be considered as it enables leaders to create teams that are cohesive with a shared social context (Jawadi et al., 2013).

When covid-19 spread across the world, organizations and their employees needed to quickly adjust to new restrictions and recommendations to stop the spread of the virus. This led to a

sudden shift, from working in an office to working from home (Bolisani et al., 2020; Tønnessen et al., 2021). Researchers have studied how working from home during the pandemic has affected knowledge sharing and performance (Bolisani et al., 2020; Tønnessen et al., 2021). Tønnessen et al. (2021) studied how internal and external digital knowledge sharing and creative performance were affected when working from home during the pandemic. The authors found that digital knowledge sharing was a significant predictor of creative performance. Working from home can affect how colleagues interact and impact knowledge sharing and management (Bolisani et al., 2020). The authors state that managers must recognize the benefits of working from home, but these should not be assumed, as working primarily or solely from home can impede the ability of employees to exchange knowledge with their colleagues, leading to reduced productivity. Furthermore, a constant online connection can lead to stress and decreased productivity and interpersonal relationships. Businesses should be aware of these potential negative effects and implement measures to mitigate them. Bolisani et al. (2021) present in their result a balanced distribution of how respondents viewed their new working conditions. One-third of the respondents considered the situation of working from home normal, one-third more challenging, and onethird less challenging. Further, the authors state that overall, the results indicate a polarized experience of working from home with two extremes, those strongly for and those strongly against.

## 2.4 Physical Work Setting

Christensen & Pedersen (2018) found that physical proximity significantly promotes knowledge sharing among individuals. Physical proximity can have direct and indirect effects on knowledge sharing, specifically by promoting spontaneous interactions and face-to-face communication, and by fostering strong relationships. Furthermore, their research shows a correlation between proximity and relationship-strength, as people located close are more likely to form strong connections. As a result, colleagues with close relationships will share knowledge more frequently. Proximity fosters knowledge sharing by forming strong social relationships, leading to high levels of trust and a reduction of social costs. (Holdt Christensen & Pedersen, 2018).

When identifying barriers to knowledge sharing Reige (2005) presents three main levels at which they can occur. First, at an individual level, barriers include lack of time, lack of contact time, and poor communication skills. Second, the organizational level barrier includes

limited formal and informal spaces to share, the physical work environment, and limited infrastructure that supports sharing. The third level is technology, where barriers include lack of integration with IT and work processes, reluctance to use new technology, and lack of technical support (Riege, 2005). To overcome these barriers researchers have identified actions that can be employed. Reige (2007) compiled a list highlighting some of these actions. To overcome the lack of time, managers can allocate time every week to facilitate sharing initiatives. Lack of contact time can be overcome by supporting face-to-face meetings and creating a superior physical and virtual environment that supports knowledge sharing. Poor communication skills can be overcome by providing feedback processes and supporting open communication flows. Overcoming organizational barriers such as the ones mentioned above can be done by providing and supporting formal and informal meeting spaces, designing work areas that assist in timely knowledge sharing, and allocating resources that support communication and collaboration. To overcome technological barriers, actions such as integrating IT systems that are suitable for the way the employees work, providing time and resources that allow employees to learn and familiarize themselves, and providing external and internal support services (Riege, 2007).

## 2.5 Hybrid Work Setting

With the global outbreak, an increased need for digital technologies has emerged to facilitate knowledge creation, distribution, and sharing (Deng et al., 2023). The authors found that the use of digital technologies enhances communication and coordination among individuals based on their knowledge, needs, and information-sharing requirements, ultimately leading to effective knowledge sharing and decision-making. Therefore, it is crucial for organizations to facilitate the sharing and use of knowledge through digital technologies, especially in the current distributed working environment (Deng et al., 2023).

In the context of post-covid, working both from home and in the office has become a more common way leading to a hybrid setting (da Silva et al., 2022). Allen et al state that the absence of regular face-to-face interactions with colleagues can significantly impact the dynamics of interpersonal processes in the workplace. Further, organizational resources and knowledge are shared through relationship networks. The authors argue that this shift from a physical to a virtual workplace can have profound effects on communication, relationships between colleagues, and knowledge sharing. Workplace relationships are stated by Allen et al (2015) to be impacted by the frequency employees work virtually or in the office, and that the

higher amount spent working virtually the higher the impact on workplace relationships. Further, the authors state that organizations that offer the ability to work virtually must have support systems for it to effectively work. Organizational digital workplace strategy is important for creating an effective digital workplace and entails adapting the culture to this form of working and is suitable for facilitating collaboration and flexible work (Williams & Schubert, 2018). The authors convey a key element that needs to be considered when developing a digital workplace strategy, the negative effects that occur with limited face-toface interactions can be mitigated by using versatile communication tools and technologies. Further, the strategies need to be agile and adaptable to meet future needs, requirements, and technologies so that employees can effectively conduct their work individually and in collaboration with others. The hybrid work setting has been found to better facilitate the work-life balance demands as it gives the flexibility to balance the job role with family and responsibilities and activities (Morganson et al., 2010). The authors further describe that the hybrid work setting can have inherent barriers to creating workplace inclusion. They state that employees can feel excluded and isolated as they miss out on informal and formal opportunities when they are not physically in the office. The authors found that employees who work only in an office have higher levels of workplace inclusion compared to those who work in a hybrid or virtual work setting.

## 2.6 Digital Work & Communication

The digital workplace is becoming more and more common, and this work model allows employees to be more flexible in where and when they work. If the digital work is effectively planned, communicated, and properly implemented it can lead to significant advantages and cost savings (Attaran et al., 2019). Further, the authors state that flexibility in planning the workday increases employee's moral and it has positive impact on their health. The digital work model increases employee's autonomy as they can choose work location and working hours more independently, increasing both productivity and engagement (Attaran et al., 2019). The digital workplaces and virtual teams are characterized by the lack of or limitation of face-to-face interactions (Jawadi et al., 2013). As face-to-face interactions are not the commonly used communication media, it poses some limitations for employees as the absence of auditory and visual cues and back and forth communication can lead to issues regarding sharing ideas, taking decisions, and coordinating work (Abrams et al., 2003; Dennis et al., 2008; Gajendran et al., 2022). Further, Darics (2020) argues that this limitation

creates challenges for interpreting and understanding emotions and feelings in digital communication. More frequent interaction is a key factor for creating trust among employees as it allows for a deeper understanding of a person's behavior and competences (Abrams et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2011). It has been found that for effective digital communication to function in an organization, frequency is more important than the choice if media used to communicate (Morgan et al., 2014).

Digital technologies and communications are becoming more relevant in today's organizational environment and play a crucial role in facilitating the connection between employees in an organization (Deng et al., 2023). Digital technologies such as zoom, Microsoft Teams, and online resources and tools have the capability to enhance coordination and communication which can foster knowledge sharing. However, Deng et al (2023) state that this capability is not guaranteed as individuals can be constrained by digital technology and create complex interactions between employees. The authors found that digital technology enhanced coordination and communication between employees which positively affected knowledge sharing as. Digital technology such as email and chat facilitate collaboration among employees as external and internal communication is enhanced Deng et al (2023) argue that this improved communication can lead to increased knowledge sharing.

Dennis et al (2008) developed an extended version of the media synchronicity theory, where they argue that communication is composed of two primary processes: conveyance and convergence. The theory suggests that the choice of communication media depends on the complexity of the work task and the need for rich information. Highly complex tasks that require a lot of information and interactions are best suited for face-to-face interactions which allows for immediate feedback and richer communication. Further, less complex tasks can be handled using fewer rich media such as email or other computer-mediating communication (Dennis et al., 2008). The conveyance process concerns the element of sharing new and relevant information so the receiver can understand the situation or task and create a mental model of it. Participating in conveyance entails engaging in substantial information processing where large and diverse sets of information can be exchanged, which requires time to analyze the information and create a mental picture. The convergence process involves discussing and interpreting the already shared and processed information. The main goal is to reach a shared understanding of the meaning of the information which often requires back-and-forth communication. Convergence requires less information processing compared to conveyance as it focuses on verifying and adjusting the existing understanding

of the situation or task. Dennis et al (2008) argue that there are two key implications entailing that most tasks require both conveyance and convergence processes but state that the amount and duration of these processes are very dependent on the task and individuals involved. If information is not effectively conveyed, incorrect conclusions might be drawn, similarly, if a shared understanding can't be reached, individuals can't proceed as they lack common ground (Dennis et al., 2008).

Synchronous communication is described as when individuals communicate at the same time e.g., face-to-face or video conferences, and asynchronous communication is described as communication between individuals that does not occur at the same time e.g., email. Media synchronicity is defined as "the extent to which the capabilities of a communication medium enable individuals to achieve synchronicity" (Dennis et al., 2008, p.581). The authors argue that convergence processes have a greater need for synchronous communication while conveyance processes do not have the same need. Further, the authors describe that media synchronicity contains five media capabilities: transmission velocity (the speed a message can reach the recipient. symbol sets (social cues, body language, and vocal tones), parallelism (simultaneous transmissions), rehearsability (how the media allows for fine-tuning and rehearsing before transmitting the information) and processability (the ability to reexamine and process the information again). High transmission and symbol sets are often connected to high synchronicity while parallelism, rehearsability and processability are usually connected with low synchronicity.

Dennis et al (2008) argue that familiarity with the task, media, and individual play a critical role in the importance of conveyance and convergence. Familiar communication context means individuals who have experience with working together thus have developed roles and norms. Meaning that the convergence process will take less time as they can reach an understanding and same mental picture faster. Novel communication context means individuals who as no prior experience working together, requiring a longer convergence process as they need to develop a shared understanding and mental picture. The authors state that individuals who collaborate that have well established norms reduces the necessity for high synchronous media while individuals who collaborate without established norms increases the need for high synchronous media.

Several researchers have used the media synchronicity theory that Dennis et al (2008) developed, to investigate communication, social exchange, and performance in an

organizational context. Parlamis & Dibble (2019) investigated whether teams using several communication modes performed better than those who only used one mode. The authors found no difference in achieved goals between the teams which contradicts the media synchronicity theory. However, they found that face-to-face interactions are dominant and could lead employees to not use other media such as chat or mail. It is suggested that since face-to-face communication tends to be dominant, complex tasks require more awareness for communication processes and a need for organizations to use the right media for convergence and conveying processes (Parlamis & Dibble, 2019). Torro et al (2022) explored in their study how media synchronicity facilitates trust in technology mediating interactions. The authors found that high synchronicity allows for a more effective way of building trust as social cues and back-and-forth interactions are more present. Gajendran et al (2022) studied how text-based communication impacts complex reasoning and performance and found that this way of communicating makes it more difficult for employees to have an effective convergence process as compared to face-to-face communication. Further, the result showed that motivation maintenance, the way an employee continues to invest time and energy in their work, and performance on complex issues were reduced.

### 3.0 Method

In this section, a detailed description of the research design and methodology is made. A description of the choices and considerations made during the research process will be presented as well as the research strategy. design, data collection, data analysis, research quality, and ethical considerations.

## 3.1 Research Strategy

When studying a social phenomenon, the research method chosen should help the researcher to answer the research question. A problem driven research methodology means that theories are the outcome of a researched phenomenon, whereas a method driven approach is when theory is generated first subsequently searching for a phenomenon where the theory can be applied (Bell et al., 2019). This study adopts a problem driven research methodology to address the research question. In this study, a qualitative research strategy is applied, and an abductive approach is used.

As Bell et al. (2019) state, using a qualitative research strategy is appropriate when the goal of the study is to understand a phenomenon from the respondent's perspective, as it allows the researcher to see their reality and how they experience and interpret it. Furthermore, the qualitative method allows the exploration of in-depth and rich data collection and offers flexibility in the research design and data collection (Bell et al., 2019). Compared to quantitative research, qualitative research captures and uncovers the respondent's perceptions, feelings, and thoughts, and provides for more nuanced answers. This is why the qualitative approach is a good fit for this study which aims to capture the respondents' experiences regarding hybrid work setting to answer this study's research question.

This study has used earlier literature regarding trust and knowledge sharing in organizations as the main theoretical approach for creating an understanding of the field. Due to the pandemic, new conditions for employees have occurred and the work environment has changed. Literature is lacking in this area as the post covid context has accelerated the adaptation of the hybrid work setting, creating a gap for theoretical and empirical insights. This study, therefore, adopts an abductive approach which allows for an open mind about the phenomena hybrid work but use existing literature, going back and forth between the data and the literature. The focus of this study is to understand how employees are experiencing

the hybrid work setting and how this can have an impact on trust and knowledge sharing. With this aim, an inductive approach is suitable. The abductive approach is an interpretative approach that involves the processes of moving between the empirical phenomenon and theory (Bell et al., 2019). This study has relied upon earlier literature on trust and knowledge sharing as the main theoretical framework, but the hybrid work setting in the Swedish context has limitation in theoretical literature and empirical insight, hence an abductive approach is best fitted in this study.

## 3.2 Research Design

This study is a case study with a focus on employees who have adopted the hybrid work setting after the pandemic. The case is limited to the greater area of Gothenburg, focusing on employees in three different industries. This case study allows for investigating potential differences between the different cases in their corresponding industries. As the hybrid work setting is becoming the new normal, seeking an understanding of how it can impact trust and knowledge sharing is important. The case study had a specific focus on three different industries to spread the respondents which allowed for investigating potential differences and give insight if there are general and similar effects that this work model entails across several employees or specific related effects to different industries. The analysis of a case study can be within-case or cross-case. Within-case analysis entails searching for unique patterns in each case while cross-case entails searching for patterns between the cases. This study has chosen the dimension of industries to allow for a cross-case analysis to be made.

A case study is a research design that undertakes a deeper investigation, focusing on a specific setting or situation (Bell et al., 2019). Further, the authors state that "a case is an object of interest in its own right" where a researcher aims to explain the case in a deeper context. Each person in this case study represents a single case and focuses on their specific experience with working in the hybrid work setting. A case study is beneficial when investigating a phenomenon as it provides a rich and detailed picture, providing deep insights (Bell et al., 2019).

.

#### 3.3 Data Collection

The selection of cases and respondents in this study was based on several criteria that needed to be fulfilled. The first step was to identify employees who work in the greater area of Gothenburg, Sweden. Three industries were investigated in this study: automotive, retail, and infrastructure. The respondent had to have worked entirely at the office before the pandemic, allowing for an understanding of the hybrid work in a post covid context. Secondly, the respondent needed to at least work from home one day a week.

In this study, the respondents have been purposefully selected to meet specific criteria. Bell et al. (2019) state that purposeful selection takes place when the respondents are chosen to satisfy certain criteria in relation to the aim of the study. This ensures that the respondents are relevant to the research question and that the collected data will be useful in the study. Bell et al. (2019) argues that most qualitative research entails some sort of purposive sampling. The respondents in this study were chosen on their likely/probable ability to contribute to a theoretical understanding.

**Table.1** Overview of participating respondents

Name	Department	Industry	Date	Length	Interview type
R1	IT	Automotive	13-04-2023	47 min	Video call
R2	IT	Automotive	11-04-2023	40 min	Video call
R3	Economy	Automotive	08-05-2023	40 min	Video call
R4	Economy	Automotive	17-04-2023	31 min	In-person
R5	Economy	Infrastructure	05-04-2023	58 min	Video call
R6	People and Culture	Infrastructure	13-04-2023	35 min	Video call
R7	IT	Infrastructure	20-04-2023	33 min	Video call
R8	Purchasing	Retail	21-04-2023	44 min	Video call
R9	People and Culture	Retail	16-04-2023	43 min	Video call
R10	Purchasing	Retail	03-04-2023	36 min	In-person

The method used in this study to collect data was semi-structured interviews. This data collection method was used to reach a deeper understanding of how the respondents are experiencing hybrid work and how this affects trust and knowledge sharing. Using this method aligns with a qualitative research strategy. Bell et al. (2019) describes that conducting semi-structured interviews allows the researcher to receive more in-depth answers and that it allows for a more flexible collection of data as interview questions can be changed or added. Further, the author states that this method gives the respondents room to elaborate and express themselves in connection to the phenomenon that is being studied. During the semistructured interviews, an interview guide was used. The guide was developed by the researcher and used during all the interviews. Using an interview guide will help the researcher to ask questions that are relevant to the purpose of the study and still leave room for the respondent to answer freely (Bell et al., 2019). The guides ensure that the respondents answer the same fundamental questions that are relevant to the study allowing for some consistency. The interview guide was based on previous research and literature. A pilot interview was conducted to test the quality of the questions, the relevance, and the general understandability of them. Some questions were altered after feedback from the respondent.

As the study focuses on employees who work both from home and in the office, they were given the choice to participate in the interview either physically or virtually. The respondents were informed before the interview that it would be recorded and were given a consent form to sign. Before the interview, I introduced myself and briefed them on what the study was about in general terms.

## 3.4 Data Analysis

The collected data in this study was first recorded and then transcribed by the researcher. This allowed for high-quality and deep analysis of the material. Notes were taken during the interviews to highlight and capture important elements in the interview. By recording and transcribing the interviews, the limitation of memory can be overcome. Full attention can be on the respondent, creating a connected and deeper conversation (Bell et al., 2019)

A thematic analysis was used to analyze the empirical data as it allowed for the emergence of patterns and themes. Amy et al state that qualitative research requires a different approach for analyzing the data compared to quantitative research. Since qualitative data is visual and

textual, not numeric, it is often analyzed by coding and searching for themes or patterns (Donley, 2012). Supported by Bell et al. (2019) who state that qualitative research can be analyzed with a thematic analysis, entailing searching for reoccurring patterns in the respondents' answers leading to emerging themes. The first step was to generate codes that were closely related to the data. Familiarization with the data was achieved through listening to the interviews again and re-reading the transcribed text before starting the initial coding process. All the interviews recorded were transcribed within 48 hours. The second step was to review the codes and search for themes that had emerged from the data. Three main themes were established in relation to the research question. In table 2 an example of how the thematic analysis was conducted is presented.

Table.2 Examples of coding

Illustrative quote	Code	Sub-theme	Main theme
"When I work from home chatting about random stuff doesn't happen, like when I am at the office, and I meet people at lunch or when grabbing a coffee" R5	No naturally occurring conversation	Informal and spontaneous communication	Communication
"Everyone does not have their camera on, and I feel it makes it difficult to connect" – R9	Difficult to connect online	Digital communication	Communication
"I think it is important to have fun outside of the office, not just work all the time" – R2	Connecting with people outside of work	Building and maintaining relationships	Work relations
"I think it is very important to meet to solve issues or problems and discuss a way forward" – R1	Engaging in problem-solving	Collaboration	Work relations
"Since we don't have to be at the office at the same time it could mean that I don't meet certain colleagues which I feel is a bit sad" R6	Missing the opportunity to see colleagues	Strategies and work structure	Work culture
"There are many who are not active in meetings and are doing something else instead during the meeting" R4	Uncertainty of engagement in meetings		Work culture

## 3.5 Research Quality

By choosing a qualitative research strategy, limitations regarding validity and reliability arise automatically. Bell et al (2019) state that reliability, replicability, and validity are the criteria most common in business research. However, in a qualitative study there are limitations when applying these criteria as they focus on measurement, which is not as applicable in qualitative research. It can be stated that reliability, replicability, and validity in this study is hard to measure and achieve as it is an unstructured process of collecting data and conducting analysis. When analyzing the data, it is difficult to completely approach it with an objective mind. Bell et al. (2019) state that qualitative data and its analysis are impossible without some subjectivity from the researcher. Instead, qualitative research can be evaluated by two other criteria, trustworthiness, and authenticity (Bell et al., 2019).

#### 3.5.1 Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness contains four criteria that are equivalent to the criteria in quantitative research: credibility equivalent to internal validity, transferability equivalent to external validity, dependability equivalent to reliability, and confirmability equivalent to objectivity (Bell et al., 2019).

Credibility refers to ensuring that the study is conducted in good practice and that the researchers have correctly interpreted the data collected from the respondents (Bell et al., 2019). This is often referred to as respondent validation and entails allowing the participants to corroborate on the findings or sharing the quotes intended to be used in the study. In this study the respondents were sent their corresponding quotes from their interviews to ensure that the quotes used were accepted and that the respondents consent to using the quotes in the study. The respondents were also asked if follow up questions or unclarity regarding the interview data could be later asked about in email.

Transferability refers to how well a study can be applied in a different context, and as qualitative research focus on depth rather than breadth, it tends to be directed to contextual uniqueness (Bell et al., 2019). The focus in qualitative research should be on achieving thick description, meaning collecting rich and detailed data of the culture. This research investigates three industries which could lead to less rich and detailed collection of the culture as there is variety in the respondents work setting and structure and design of the hybrid work setting. However, the spread of the respondents in the three different industries

could enhance the likelihood of capturing various perspectives and contextual nuances that lead to a higher transferability for the investigated phenomena the hybrid work setting.

Dependability can be enhanced by ensuring that complete records of all processes are kept described in the research, and that peers can audit the processes and records (Bell et al., 2019). In this study, increased dependability has been achieved by clearly describing the interview process and data analysis. Further, the thesis has been peer-reviewed during the course of the project by supervisors and other master students, to ensure that the processes are correctly conducted and understood.

Confirmability refers to the insurance of objectivity, but as this is impossible in a qualitative study, it is focused on acting in good faith, meaning that it should not be apparent that the researcher has allowed personal values or theoretical biases to influence the research process or its findings (Bell et al., 2019). Auditors can establish confirmability, and as previously stated, peer-reviews have been conducted during the process by supervisors and master students. However, Bell et al (2019) argue that complete objectivity is impossible to reach in qualitative research and should be considered and reflected upon so that the researchers' biases are minimized in the analysis.

#### 3.5.2 Authenticity

Authenticity concerns the wider perspective the impact of the research has on social and political issues (Bell et al., 2019). It highlights the responsibility a researcher must accurately represent multiple perspectives and viewpoints within a social setting, enabling respondents to reach a greater understanding of their situation and encourage them to change. In this study different perspectives and viewpoints have been represented as respondents are from different organizations and industries, as well as different roles. Further, the interview guide was semi-structured which allowed the respondents to elaborate and discuss their reality in a freer way, thus enhancing their ability to convey their perspectives and viewpoints.

#### 3.5.3 Ethical Consideration

Bell et al (2019) state that there are four ethical principles that should be takin into consideration and ensured that they are minimized and are not transgressed. The four principles are harm to participant, lack of informed consent, invasion of privacy and finally, deception. In this study, the principle of harm and informed consent have been ensured by allowing for anonymity so that the respondents cannot be identified. Further, a consent form

was signed by all the respondents to ensure that they had the correct information about the study's intention and their participation.

In qualitative research there is a principle of risk to subjects and that the information gathered should not be disclosed, and confidentiality for the respondent's personal information is ensured (Donley, 2012). In this study, a consent form was sent out to the respondents containing information about the study, handling of personal information, processes of analysis and presenting of the result and final thesis (see appendix 2). It is stated in the consent form that participation is voluntary, and that participation will be anonymous, recording of the interview will be made, handling of collected material will be limited to the researcher, and that all material will be erased after the conclusion of the project. The respondent signed the consent form before the interviews. Informed consent is described by Donley (2012) to include consent to participation, information about the study, why it is conducted, expectation from participants, and risk and benefits.

## 4.0 Findings

In this section, the empirical data, and main findings from the interviews with employees are presented and described. The first part shortly describes the respondent's work environment and provides a background for the reader. The following section is structured into three parts, communication, work relations, and work culture. These are the main themes derived from thematic analysis. Quotes are presented in the result to highlight the respondents experience and to present their perspective more accurately.

**Table.3** Overview of the main themes and sub themes

Main themes	Communication	Work relations	Work culture
Sub- themes	Informal and spontaneous communication  Digital communication	Building and maintaining relationships  Collaborations	Strategies and work structure

## 4.1 Understanding the hybrid work setting and work tools

Due to the pandemic, the respondents' work setting has changed. None of them have worked in a hybrid work setting before and are new to this way of working. The respondents state that they work from home approximately two to three days a week. The majority of the respondents do not have specific days where they must be physically in the office. All organizations have a guideline on how many days, or percentage, an employee can work from home. However, the majority of the respondents state that these guidelines are a more general official statement and that they and their colleagues can be more flexible. It is further stated that the teams they work in can set their own guidelines so that they can fit their team best. The respondents' team members are stated to be offered the same possibility to work from home and can individually choose if they want to work more from the office or from home.

Work is conducted both from home and at the office and the communication and collaboration between their co-workers are a combination of physical and digital media. They are reliant on digital tools both when in the office and at home to work both individually and to communicate and collaborate with their colleagues. They use digital tools to communicate

such as online video meetings, chat functions, shared documents, and email. Everyone describes that digital tools are a vital part of their everyday work and that they are a crucial element in their ability to conduct their work.

#### 4.2 Communication

In the interviews communication was a reoccurring theme among all the respondents. They describe that the transition from physical to digital communication has worked well but that the context in where and how they communicate has changed. Both positive and negative aspects are expressed by the respondents. Flexibility and efficiency were expressed as positive effects of the hybrid work and informal communication, reading body language, interpreting a written text, and understanding context was expressed as the negative effects.

#### 4.2.1 Informal & Spontaneous Communication

All the respondents expressed a lack of spontaneous conversations with their colleagues when working from home. They describe that personal conversations are not naturally occurring when you communicate online to the same extent as when you communicate face-to-face in the office. Spontaneous conversation is described as the interactions that occur when you walk by your colleague or when you talk in the break room and concern both personal and professional topics. Further, they all explain that the conversations online are more concerned with work and that they usually communicate with their co-workers when they have it scheduled in their calendars.

R10 described the experience of communicating online versus communicating face to face as below.

"In online meetings or short check-ups, you don't really have time for asking how their weekend was. They are more focused on work-related issues" -R10

R5 described a similar experience to the difference, shown in the quote below.

"You don't have the same kind of conversation in an online meeting as when you grab a coffee with colleagues or have lunch together. You miss out on this natural way of communicating." -R5

R6, R7, and R8 expressed that they feel as though they are disturbing their co-workers if they call unannounced. When they are working from home and do not know what their co-workers are doing, they feel that they might interrupt their co-workers, making the respondents less inclined to call unannounced. R8 described the experience as below:

"For me to call my colleague I need to have a specific question. I can't just call and disturb them; I must really want something from them to call them." -R8

A similar experience is described by R6 who feel that they must have a reason to call and that they do not want to disturb their colleagues unless it is something important. The respondent also states that they do not call or text their colleagues to ask about general or personal things just to strike up a conversation. This is described in the quote below:

"I would never call someone on teams just to talk about their day or random stuff, I feel that I have to have a purpose to call someone when I work from home. In the office is it more natural because you bump into your colleagues every now and then." -R6

Even though all the respondents expressed a lack of spontaneous communication, R1, R2, R7 & R8 also describe that when they communicate online the conversations are often more concise and that their co-workers are prepared before, they have their materials or questions ready to be presented. This leads to a more efficient way of communicating and unnecessary or irrelevant topics are avoided. Further, all the respondents describe that when they work from home they can concentrate better because they do not get disturbed by their co-workers to the same extent. They explain that in the office they can get disturbed by a co-worker that drops by their office to ask a question or to make conversations. R8 described it as this:

"You sit at your desk and are focused and then a co-worker walks by and asks you something and then you lost your focus." R7

R2 expressed that before the pandemic when he/she was always in the office, they didn't plan their days that much. Now in a hybrid work setting he/she describes that if they have two days that they are in the office, he/she will plan it better and have an agenda to get tasks done and to talk to specific people.

"Before you would just come into the office every day and do your work but now when I go to the office, I have a clearer idea of what needs to get done and who I need to talk to. I know I am going to get disturbed by someone, so I don't schedule any important meetings when I am at the office, instead, I try to solve problems and talk to the right people." R2

The findings show that the difference in communication in the office and online has affected the respondents' approach to knowledge sharing. As spontaneous communication, body language and social cues occur less in the online setting, the respondents discuss the challenges of conveying and receiving information and ideas in a nuanced way. It is expressed by the respondents that all information can be shared in the office as well as online but that the latter limits the exchange of creativity and ideation.

The majority of the respondents state that when working from home it is more difficult to quickly get a hold of a colleague. One challenge mentioned by the respondents was the struggle to ask for information or a question online. They state that in the office you can swing by a colleague's office and quickly get an answer and ask follow-up questions, but that working from home limits this kind of interaction, making it harder to get information fast. R1 and R2 experienced this in some cases but also state that they often can write in a chat with a colleague and get a quick response. R1 however states that you can get quick information in a chat but that it doesn't allow for the same depth as when speaking to the person.

"When you chat with someone you don't get the same depth, it is often that you feel like 'ok, I can't ask anymore' and just write ok I got it." -R1

#### 4.2.2 Digital Communication

The majority of the respondents expressed that it is more difficult to understand intonation in written text. Experiences of misunderstandings when communicating in mail or chat were recurrent in the respondents' answers. It is stated that when they use written language, they need to be more aware of who the respondent of the text is and how it may be interpreted from their side. The misunderstandings are connected to how the recipient of the message perceives the intonation, if is aggressive or harsh, or friendly and soft. Further, the respondents describe that everyone has their own way of communicating in text, such as being more informal by using emojis for example or they use a more formal language. If a

colleague is used to communicating in a more informal or formal way and the respondents are used to the opposite, misunderstandings are more common. All the respondents agree that if you know the recipient of the text well, it is less likely that a misunderstanding will occur as they are familiar with how the respondents communicate both face-to-face and online.

R1 describes their experience with the written text between colleagues as stated below:

"If a person uses swearwords or a more aggressive way but with a fun or kind undertone when talking to someone and then switches to written text using the same way of communicating, people can take offense or feel uncomfortable as they can't hear and understand the subtext of it." -R1

R2 describes the difference between communicating with their closest colleagues and with people they haven't worked with as much before as stated below:

"I am a person who uses a very informal way of writing with my close colleagues but when I write to people I don't usually speak to, it is more difficult to read them. Do they not want to do the job because they didn't answer with thank you? It can be difficult to sometimes understand how they received the message or for me to understand them" – R2

All the respondents expressed how the lack of body language negatively affected how well they can communicate with their colleagues. Both in calls and in text the respondents stress that the inability to see the other person creates a barrier between them and the recipient. By not seeing the person, communication with misunderstandings is more prominent in these conversations. It is stated that social cues such as body language and expressions are important when communicating with colleagues as it helps create an understanding of how a message is delivered. Since it is not possible to see how the recipient of the message reacts it becomes a challenge to understand and respond to the reaction. R10 describes their experience between communicating online versus face-to-face in relation to the response and reaction from the recipient:

"It was much easier to talk face-to-face as I didn't feel safe or comfortable with how the message was going to be received. I needed to see their face in order to understand exactly how they received the information." - R10

The majority of the respondents also state that digital communication and the lack of social cues make it difficult to know how their colleagues are feeling. They believe that it is very

limiting to communicate online when it comes to understanding their colleague's well-being and that it is easier to see in person how their colleagues are feeling both negative and positive emotions. R9 describes the lack of body language in connection to colleagues' well-being stated in the quote below:

"I believe that my relationships have been affected in a negative way because you don't see the body language or the personality behind in texts, and that makes it difficult to understand if your colleague is feeling down or just in general how they are feeling." R9

When asked about how a hybrid work setting has affected their relationships with their colleagues, R1 and R9 state that their relationship with their closest colleagues has become better when working in a hybrid setting. They state that it is easier to communicate more often as they can chat with them online and don't have to walk to their office or wait for the lunch break. R1 describes it as following:

"With a small group of colleagues, I have a more personal relationship and a feel that it has developed better in a hybrid setting. Earlier I had to wait for them to finish a meeting to go and grab a coffee but now we have a private chat channel where we can write about everything anytime." -R1

Further, R5 and R8 respondents have experienced the opposite effect in their relationship with their colleagues. They describe that the hybrid work setting has led to weaker relationships because they do not connect with them as much as they did when they were in the office. They state that spontaneous conversations occur less in a hybrid work setting and, when they are in the office less, they don't always have the time or opportunity to engage in these types of conversations. It is also stated that even though they come to the office, their colleagues are not always there. R5 describes the experience as stated below:

"It feels like I have lost the closeness to my colleagues, I don't feel the same team spirit as I did before. When I am at the office for maybe one or two days, I need to do certain things and I don't always prioritize grabbing that coffee." -R5

Some respondents state that the hybrid work setting has led to more thorough documentation of tasks and work processes. They state that this has made it easier to share certain

information that contains more detailed or precise instructions with more people. Written information is also saved and can be referred back to, making it easier for multiple people to read and understand the information at any time. Further, R1 explains that written information in some situations is preferred as it allows taking in the information at the individual's own pace, and the chance to revisit the information if necessary. The experience is described as following:

"It is always good with written information because you can always go back and look again, but in meetings, if someone speaks really fast you can't reflect but with written text, you can take it at your own pace." R1

All the respondents discuss how different information and problems are more fitting in one setting. Information that can be easily understood, such as instructions, policies, or basic 'how to' questions is stated to be equally easy to convey online as in the office. This type of information is stated to not require as much effort since follow-up questions and discussions are usually not needed for understanding it. However, the majority of the respondents state that they have experienced problem-solving and idea creation are more likely to occur in the office when meeting colleagues physically. The respondents describe that when they are in the office and are speaking with colleagues, they receive more impressions and nuances compared to online, expressing that these are factors that affect creativity. R10 describes the situation as following:

"I feel that the creativity is a bit lost when we are not in the office, you don't see the nuances in the same way, it is the little things you know." R10

R4, R5, R6, R7, and R9 discussed that creativity in the team or organization is less or non-existent when working from home. They state that to create these back-and-forth discussions or spontaneous questions that lead to an idea, they must be in the office for this to occur.

R1 describes that there are situations where R1 has felt that meeting a colleague physically allows for a more efficient way of communicating as the use of body language and social cues are possible. Further, the tools used are simpler in the office, such as a whiteboard or pen and paper, and this simplicity enables a quicker exchange of information, problems, and ideas. The respondent describes the situation as following:

"Sometimes it feels that using pen and paper and three persons can solve a problem quicker than you writing documents and switching between fifteen different [digital] tools just to draw a symbol that doesn't exist in all the tools." – R1

All the respondents discuss how more explicit knowledge can be conveyed online as well as in the office, but that the main challenge is time. They state that when explaining or instructing a colleague online it requires more time and effort. Both in writing and in video calls have been experienced. R1 discussed how writing information is more time-consuming and requires a more thorough approach as R1 has limited information of the receiver's basic and earlier knowledge.

"One problem is that you write long novels because you expect that everyone starts from scratch but maybe just one sentence would be enough... ... you have to add so much more background information, so you end up with half a novel." – Respondent 3

Further R1 stated that sending written information doesn't allow for seeing if the receiver understood the information and often feels the need to explain more to be confident that the information is understood.

"You can't see on the body language if the person understood so you just think 'well shit, I will write this whole thing' and it is often unnecessary information." -RI

R3 state that as some information or explanation is preferred to transmit in the office as it allows for a more nuanced way of speaking and can take short time to convey compared to doing it digitally:

"I have experienced that I wait to explain or show something until I am at the office because it would take too long online, and it is just easier to do it at the office then instead." R3

### 4.3 Work relations

### 4.3.1 Building and maintaining relationships

The majority of respondents have experienced a change in their relationships with their colleagues. Both positive and negative experiences have been expressed in relation to building and maintaining relationships with their colleagues. As a result of the hybrid work setting the respondents do not interact with their colleagues physically in the office more than two to three times a week. The findings highlight that the lack of this interaction in the office has led to less personal communication between colleagues for most of the respondents.

Most of the respondent state that the relationships they had with colleagues before they started to work in a hybrid setting are easier to maintain. They explained that their relationships with their closest colleagues have been built up over time. That they have connected with them, both professionally and personally, and created an understanding of who the person is and how they act and behave. They feel more confident in their relationship with those colleagues and state that because of this, it is not as challenging to maintain the relationship even though they do not see them every day in the office. R9 describes the experience as following:

"I feel that since I have a good relationship with my closest colleagues when we started to work in this hybrid way, I still feel that we have the same connection." R9

The findings also show that the respondents feel more comfortable communicating with colleagues they have met physically in the office. R1 and R2 describe that they create better connections with colleagues when they meet them at the office. It allows them to get a better impression of the person and can with more ease read the situation and the room. Further, they state that having a personal conversation with someone enhances the relationship, making them more comfortable and relaxed with said person.

Moreover, all the respondents discussed the difference between creating a relationship with someone before the pandemic when they work at the office, and now when they work in a hybrid work setting. R4 and R10 state that it is more difficult to get to know someone when they don't see them that often in the office. Online communication doesn't allow them to form a bond in the same sense as it limits their ability to connect and understand a person. Further, R5, R7, and R8 have experienced that it takes longer to get to know someone in a

hybrid work setting. They explain that even though they believe that it is possible to form the same kind of relationship with someone working hybrid, the process is longer as they don't see the person as often as they would have before when only working in the office. They stress that it is important to physically meet colleagues in and outside the office as it is where they feel they can connect better and create trust. The situation is described by R8 as following:

"I think it takes longer time to build this trust when you don't just work in the office but if you work in a place long and work relatively much from the office, you can build up this trust despite working two or three days from home." R8

Further, R4, R6, and R9 discussed how relationships and trust are affected when new colleagues enter their team. They described that when a colleague quit, and a new team member was introduced, the team dynamic changed. R6 described the situation as following:

"My team changed, and a new person joined the team, and I felt then that I had to build up that trust again, not just with the person who is new but also we as a whole team." R6

Further, R4 states that building relationships and trust with new colleagues takes much more energy and believes it to be more difficult in a hybrid setting. R4 argues that it is crucial to meet physically at the office for this to happen and further states that it is more difficult to include new team members in the team and in the work community as the hybrid work limits how often the team and department are at the office on the same day and time. The experience is described as following:

"It is more difficult to build new relationships in this way, it takes more energy or maybe commitment to create a relationship but also to make sure that they are included in the community." R4

The majority of the respondents state the importance of meeting in real life to form and create a bond with their colleagues. They express the need for informal events, such as having lunch together, grabbing a coffee, and after work where they go out for dinner or drinks. They describe that those events are where they best create stronger relationships because they interact with them in a more personal way. R5 R6, and R8, and R10 state that in order for

them to form a stronger bond with colleagues they want to experience them in a different setting where not everything is concerned or revolved around work.

"After an after work I feel that I have gotten a better picture of my colleague and a better understanding of who they are as we don't just talk about work." R8

### 4.3.2 Collaborations

The collaborations between colleagues in the same team as well as with other teams and departments have, according to most respondents, changed. They explain that there are both positive and negative aspects that the hybrid works setting has led to. The majority of the respondents expressed that the collaboration with their team members has not been affected in a negative way. They state that the hybrid work setting gives them the opportunity to meet their colleagues in the office and online, increasing their flexibility on how and when they can collaborate. R7 and R8 describe the experience as following:

"I feel that we [the team] can easily plan when we should have a meeting to discuss something because we can be at different places and still have these occasions where we talk about a project or upcoming event." R8

...

"For me, the most positive thing is that we can have like a debrief online where we go through everything that needs to be done, and then we can decide how we should start working on it and we don't have to be in the same room or same place which I feel can be time-consuming sometimes."

R7

However, the majority of the respondents also state that collaborations with other departments have decreased in some respects. The hybrid work setting is described by the majority of respondents to limit their chances of meeting colleagues outside of their team. They discuss how this might not be a direct problem as collaborations that are planned and organized between teams and departments are well managed. However, it is stated that when there is no obvious reason to collaborate or a direct need for it, they rarely find opportunities to interact and create a discussion that can lead to collaboration. R4 and R10 further discuss how collaboration and creativity are created and built between teams and departments, mostly

when they are in the office. R4 described a situation in the office where this had happened and stated that this doesn't occur online as he/she seldom interacts spontaneously with colleagues from different departments.

"You know when I talk to someone from another department or team during lunch or at the coffee station, and it can be about anything, sometimes we realize that 'wait a minute, you can help me with this', and we start to talk about it and giving advice or ideas." R4

R2, R6, and R9 describe that there is a barrier to collaborating with colleagues they do not know that well. It is stated that asking for help or input on a problem is more natural with colleagues they know better and that they prefer to have this exchange with them. R2 further stated that this can also happen the other way around, that if a colleague doesn't know him/her they do not feel comfortable asking for help even though he/she might have the more accurate information to give. The situation is described as following:

"If you don't know the person, they might not feel comfortable asking for help, so they ask another colleague instead of writing to me." R2

Further, R6 describes that the exchange of information when working from home is a more conscious choice. He/she states that receiving or giving information online occurs most often when there is a need.

"It is a more conscious choice to share knowledge when you are home. Someone else wants me to know something specific so they call me or send an email." R6

The findings suggest that the respondents' experiences of time and space affect how and when they exchange knowledge with colleagues. To receive or give information online can be more time-consuming and requires more effort. It is also stated that more explicit knowledge can be exchanged both online and in the office with the same ease, but that more abstract/tacit knowledge is easier to be exchanged in the present.

In situations where a more complex issue or problem is to be discussed, the majority of the respondents prefer to do this physically in the office. Many suggest that workshops or brainstorming sessions are more natural to have in the office as it allows for a bigger group to interact with each other. R5 and R10 argue that when they have meetings online, it is more

difficult to engage with everyone and that it doesn't give the same opportunity to interact and create a conversation that flows easily. R5 described the situation as following:

"When we discuss things online, I experience that we don't have the same flow when we talk. In a [physical] meeting we see each and know when we can interrupt or, well more generally it is easier to have these sorts of conversations." R5

Further, R1, R2, R3, R4 and R8 state that they experience workshops in the office is to be the best place to have information exchanges. They state that in those situations more abstract knowledge can be exchanged as it gives them the opportunity to better explain and understand information that is hard to write down. R1 described how he/she sees the need for a workshop as it allows him/her to learn new things and get another perspective:

"I think it is important to meet up and have workshops or something like that. You meet people from the organization, and it is then that new knowledge emerges." R3

R5, R8 and R9 discuss how they have experienced the process of explaining and instructing colleagues on how to do a specific task, and that they prefer to do so in the office. Online communication limits their ability to point and show with the body, making the process longer as they have to explain it using only their voice. They also state that the tools used for presenting the information can be limited online. R5 described a situation as following:

"I sometimes get the feeling of being less competent... Because it is more difficult to show something online as I can't show all my screens, and everything takes longer time online." R5

# 4.4 Work culture

When working in a hybrid setting the majority of the respondents mention a change in the work culture as communication, interactions, and work processes are not exactly the same as they were before when they were working solely in the office. The findings show that when the respondents work from home the communication and interactions that they have with their colleagues are mostly work-related. Further, R4, R9, and R10 also discuss that there is less frequent communication and interactions with colleagues from different departments.

It is stated by all the respondents that when they work from home, they have experienced that as they cannot see their colleagues and know what they are doing during meetings or during the workday, they sometimes question if their colleagues are in fact working or doing something else. Most of the respondents do not have the requirement of turning on their cameras during meetings, which they state is sometimes a problem. When conducting meetings in real life they can see if their colleagues are actively listening to them and explained that they do not know if this is the case when conducting them online. They have felt mistrust or uncertainty about what their colleagues are doing when working from home, both in online meetings and during the workday.

"There are people who don't have their cameras on, and you don't really know if they are present or doing something else completely." R4

R5, R6, and R10 discuss how they feel the need to check in more often when they work from home as they are not sure if their colleagues are doing their tasks at hand. Further that it has created a stronger need for check-ups and monitoring of what their colleagues are working on.

"You want to control maybe more when you are at home because you might not trust that the other person is doing what they are supposed to do." R10

Further, some respondents expressed that if it is not a meeting that concerns them directly, they have sometimes been doing something else simultaneously. This leads to the belief that others do it as well and is stated that it sometimes creates mistrust between them and their colleagues.

R3, R5, R6, and R8 have experienced the feeling of disturbing their colleagues when they work from home. They state that since they do not know what their colleagues are doing at the moment and if they are busy, they feel that they would be in the way or interrupting. They express that instead of calling if it is not something urgent, they will instead write an email which often takes longer for the colleague to answer than a phone call would. It is further stated by all the respondents that when they work from home it is mostly individual work because they actively choose to work on tasks that require minimum interdependence with their colleagues. The reason is further described to be linked to how well they can focus, and the respondents agree that they all can achieve a better focus at home as it is less distractions.

R2, R5, R6, and R8 have experienced that when they communicate online, they feel it is a different set of norms and rules that they have to take into consideration. The common ways of talking or expressing oneself in the office have changed when doing it online. R2 states that online R2 has experienced that some colleagues can express their disagreements more openly as they might feel safer or more confident behind a screen. Further, this has created situations where they were supposed to unite a team or department and instead, it led to a fragmentation of the people involved. R5 and R6 describe that the role they and their colleagues take in social interactions and settings are not the same online as in the office. They state that there is a difference in how people behave as they have colleagues who are shyer in person but speak more often online or the opposite, colleagues who are more comfortable in person and drawbacks when speaking online.

Moreover, some respondents have expressed that they believe it is more challenging to create and maintain a sense of belonging in the organization. R1 and R6 discussed the importance of creating a good environment and fostering a work culture that represents the organization and its values. They believe it is more challenging to maintain and spread a work culture online as it is something that happens in between and automatically when interacting in the office. R6 describes the situation as following:

"I think that this can be the biggest argument for why working from home is not beneficial. The building and creating of a culture with, both close colleagues and in other departments, happens in the little simple things that occur in the office." R6

Further, R2 describes that colleagues who do not experience the same sense of belonging in the organization might have it more difficult to create this in a hybrid work setting. That this way of working is not a great fit for everyone. Some colleagues do not feel comfortable communicating online in big groups and prefer to use a private chat channel instead, while others have no issues of writing in a large group. R2 also states that this creates a barrier for people in the organization as they do not feel comfortable in this way of communicating, hindering them from entering the community and creating a sense of belonging.

"I think that they [the organization] have a very big challenge to create the feeling of belonging. I worked in the office for a long time and think that has made me more passionate about the company and I feel a sense of

belonging. And I think that this is missing a lot when we work from home" R2

All the respondents unanimously agreed that the hybrid work setting has made it easier to balance work and personal life. They state that the hybrid work setting is more favorable as it gives them a better work-life balance. The flexibility to choose to work in the office or from home has given the respondents more opportunities to spend more time with family, friends and engage in personal activities. Earlier they found it difficult to fit this into their schedule but as they have more autonomy when planning their workday, it has become easier. Commuting to and from work has been stated as the biggest source of saving time when working from home. Further, R2, R7, and R8 expressed that in their hybrid work setting they can work different hours than they would have at the office. R2 and R6 describes the combination of working from home and at the office as following:

"You get more personal time, and it makes me feel better that I can prioritize certain things and it affects the mental health in a positive way."

R2

. . .

"I think it promotes a better balance between personal and professional life which I believe is very important." R6

### 4.4.1 Strategies and work structure

During the interview, the majority of respondents addressed and described a concern that there were no clear strategies or work processes connected to the hybrid work setting. Some respondents had specific guidelines about when they had to be in the office and how many days they needed to be there. But general strategies and work processes tailored to the hybrid working setting were lacking. The respondents addressed issues such as the need to measure work output differently, the need for more clear guidelines or rules, long-term strategies that are part of the organization's values and goals, and strategies for creating and maintaining work relationships. R2 describes thoughts of how the organization could benefit from setting specific days when everyone needs to be in the office as it could promote interactions.

"I have started to wonder if the company should decide a specific day where everyone from a certain department needs to be at the office to create these interactions between everyone"—R2

Further, R4 discusses the need for more clear frameworks that are more suited for a hybrid work setting as it could provide better structure and guidance for employees:

"I think it is very important that we set up these frameworks around how we work in a hybrid setting and I think those need to be evaluated and looked over to make sure that we create a good hybrid work setting" -R4

Further, R10 believes that a hybrid work setting requires more commitment from the leaders in the organization and that planning for the future is a critical step to ensure that this work model is sustainable as R10 believes this work model to continue:

"I believe that it [the hybrid work setting] demands more from leaders and the board to make sure that the organization has a good strategy. This way of working is something I believe will remain and that demands thinking and planning for the future for this to hold and be successful in the long run." -R10

The issue of evaluating work differently in a hybrid work setting was express by R1 and mentions the absence of a system or process to assess employees' performance and for reevaluate the current method used so it is more fit for the dynamics of remote and office work:

"There is no stamp clock, people can work four hundred percent or slack a lot during work, and to discover this I believe we have to change the way we evaluate people and right now I wouldn't say that we have a system or process for that." RI

R6 express the need for the organization to facilitate more interactions between colleagues, particularly non-work related events:

"Even though we see each other at the office I think that we need more ways of creating a relaxed and spontaneous way to talk that is not always work-related when we are home." R6

# 5.0 Analysis

In this section, the empirical findings are connected with previous literature regarding trust and knowledge sharing in organizations. It discusses and analyses the empirical findings in relation to previous literature to emphasize the research phenomenon. The structure is divided into three parts, following the structure of the empirical findings, highlighting the important findings and implications of this research.

The main findings in this study suggest that the hybrid work setting has led to changes in employees' way of communicating, building, and maintaining relationships, and their work culture. These changes have led to positive and negative outcomes that affect their work situation. The overall perceptions and experiences of the hybrid workplace are described as positive and are preferred by all the respondents compared to their earlier work setting of working only from the office. Further, there was no significant difference between the respondents from the different industries and the findings did not show great variance on the experiences and perception the respondent had of the hybrid work setting.

### 5.1 Communication

### 5.1.2 Informal & Spontaneous Communication

It is suggested from the main findings that informal communication and spontaneous interaction factors are affected when working in a hybrid setting. Challenges such as lack of spontaneous conversations and informal communication are highlighted. These aspects of the hybrid work setting can affect the employees' development of trust in each other as they interact less frequently and in a more formal way and it may form a barrier to establishing trust.

Previous studies emphasize the importance of interactions face-to-face and their critical role in fostering and building trust among employees (Al-Alawi et al., 2007; Koskinen et al., 2003). Face-to-face interactions provide employees with valuable non-verbal cues, such as facial expressions and body language and enable individuals to more effectively communicate and create a stronger bond (Al-Alawi et al., 2007). The findings in this study show that in a hybrid work setting, employees highly value face-to-face interactions as it is stated that spontaneous and informal communication often occurs in the physical workplace. In line with previous research, this study's findings support the notion that face-to-face

interactions play a crucial role in fostering trust in a hybrid work setting. The absence of physical proximity and reduced opportunities for informal communication and spontaneous interactions may pose a challenge in creating and building trust among employees.

Abrams et al (2003) state the importance of creating non-work-related relationships among employees as this helps develop relationships and promote trust. The findings in this study highlight the lack of informal communication when working in a hybrid setting as digital communication is limited to work-related subjects. As non-work-related relationships are stated to contribute to trust, this limitation may hinder the development of trust and create challenges for employees to form strong relationships. Non-work-related relationships can be tied to affect-based trust and McAllister (1995) states that it is based on the emotional bond which is the link to creating trust. The limitation of informal communication in a hybrid work setting may impede the formation of non-work-related relationships. As employees have limited opportunities to engage in casual conversations and personal interactions, the emotional bond necessary for affect-based trust may be compromised. This can create challenges for employees to form strong relationships and trust each other beyond workrelated matters. Moreover, Huang et al (2011) found that affect-based trust has a positive effect on knowledge sharing between employees. It can then be argued that the findings in this study may indicate a negative impact on knowledge sharing as there are barriers for employees to create trust, impeding the desire to share knowledge. When trust is lacking, employees may hesitate to share their knowledge, experiences, and insights with colleagues, leading to a decline in the exchange of valuable information and a potential loss of creative ideas and problem-solving capabilities within an organization.

The findings suggest that there is less spontaneous communication between employees and Abrams et al (2003) argue that frequent interactions are critical when creating trust, which indicates from the findings in this study that a hybrid work setting creates difficulties and barriers for employees to build and maintain trust. This can further be supported by Mäkelä & Brewsters (2009) study where their findings show that the number of shared experiences helps employees to form a better understanding of each other.

The value placed on face-to-face communication by employees in a hybrid work setting reflects the importance of non-verbal cues and the ability to establish stronger bonds through personal interactions. However, the limitations imposed by the hybrid work arrangement, such as reduced opportunities for informal communication and spontaneous interactions, pose

challenges to trust-building. The study also emphasizes the significance of non-work-related relationships in promoting trust among employees. The lack of informal communication in a hybrid setting, where digital interactions are predominantly focused on work-related subjects, hinders the development of these relationships. As non-work-related relationships contribute to trust-building, this limitation becomes a barrier for employees to establish and maintain trust with their colleagues.

### 5.1.3 Digital Communication

In the findings, it is emphasized that social cues, body language, the voice of tone are limited in the digital work setting. It is highlighted that there are challenges when communicating online as conveying and receiving information is restricted by the lack of body language and social cues. Receiving information fast is also highlighted in the findings and found by most to be more difficult online compared to being at the office. However, it is presented in the findings that written information has made it easier to share more information and allows for the ability to take in the information at a preferred pace. This finding is consistent with the media synchronicity theory where parallelism and processability are two media capabilities that are connected to lower synchronicity such as email, chats, and documents, and allows for more information simultaneously to be shared and reexamined to process the information again (Dennis et al., 2008).

The more efficient and concise communication that is stated to occur in the virtual workplace can lead to a higher level of trust in work-related aspects. It can thus be argued that clear communication can show the ability of competence to deliver and conduct their work in an efficient manner. Ouakouak & Ouedraogo (2019) found that professional trust had a positive impact on knowledge sharing. However, written communication can be a challenge as nuance and tone cannot be conveyed in this form of communication which can lead to misunderstandings (Darics, 2020). This increases the risk of creating a barrier between the employees and hinders the development of personal trust between them. Ouakouak & Ouedraogo (2019) also state that personal trust has a positive impact on professional trust, making it the mediating role between trust and knowledge sharing.

These findings present both challenges and opportunities to share knowledge among colleagues. Explicit knowledge is suggested to have been impacted positively in a hybrid work setting as it can be conveyed both online and, in the presence, and has led to more thorough documentation. This is in line with Dennis et al (2008) as the conveyance process,

sharing new and extensive information, does not require high synchronicity but can be shared by written text. However, tacit knowledge is suggested to be more challenging to communicate in an online setting as the findings suggest that discussions that lead to ideas and creativity are easier to have physically in the office. It can be argued that tacit knowledge is more difficult to exchange as it relies upon nonverbal communication, spontaneous interactions, and personal connections which is in line with Gajendran et al (2022) findings that complex reasoning and convergence processes are more difficult in a text-based communication.

Lack of formal and informal spaces and lack of contact time can create a barrier for knowledge sharing as it impedes employee's ability to interact in different social settings and minimize the chances to interact face-to-face (Riege, 2005). This could indicate that the hybrid work setting can lead to decreased knowledge sharing if informal and formal settings are not promoted and if face-to-face interactions are less occurring.

### 5.2 Work Relations

## 5.2.1 Building & Maintaining Relationships

The findings show that the lack of physical interaction has led to less personal communication between employees. The findings also show that relationships that were already established before the pandemic are easier to maintain. Further, getting to know a colleague is longer in a hybrid work setting, and new colleagues entering a team can impact the group dynamics and trust. The findings highlight the importance of meeting in presence, both in a professional setting as well as a personal one, to form a more personal and deeper bond.

As earlier relationships are stated to be easier to maintain it can be argued that this can be the case as trust has already been built up and that they have a better understanding of each other's work style and personalities. Suggesting that trust is built through shared experiences and interaction which becomes more challenging in a hybrid work setting. This is in line with Mäkelä & Brewster (2009) who argue that shared experiences create a base where trust can be more effectively built. Further, Abrams et al (2003) state that personal connections where employees learn about things that are non-work-related have a positive impact on personal trust. As the findings suggest, the hybrid work setting limits the interactions where employees meet at the coffee station or have lunch together, limiting the connections regarding non-

work related as it is also suggested that when communicating digitally, it is often more formal and work-related. It can thus be argued that the hybrid work setting presents challenges for employees to connect and build trust with new colleagues as they have no shared experience base and have limited interactions related to personal connections in this work model.

Christensen et al (2018) found that working closely together in a physical office fosters a stronger relationship between employees and leads to higher levels of trust. This can corroborate why the majority of the respondent who worked together with their colleagues in the office before the hybrid model was implemented, described that these relationships are not affected by the hybrid work setting as they have already established strong relationship ties. It further confirms the argument that the building of new relationships is more difficult and creates weaker bonds between colleagues in a hybrid work setting. Torro et al (2020) state that media that allows for higher synchronicity, such as face-to-face interactions, is a more effective way of building trust as it facilitates the use of non-verbal communication and social cues. As a hybrid work setting allows for both physical and digital communication, employees still have the ability to form trust with each other, but the process can take longer time.

### 4.2.2 Collaborations

The findings show that collaboration among team members has been affected positively by hybrid work setting to some degree as it has allowed for a more flexible way of communicating and collaborating. This finding is in line with Deng et al (2023) who state that digital technology increases coordination and communication. However, it is highlighted that spontaneous collaboration and ideation outside an employee's team have been negatively affected as the hybrid work setting limits their interaction with colleagues from other teams and departments.

Jawadi et al (2013) identified collaborations as a key aspect of knowledge sharing and achieving effective collaboration requires trust, open communication, and shared social context within the work environment. The findings in this study suggest the hybrid work setting have reduced face-to-face interaction and limited the interaction between employees from different teams and departments. As a result, the chances for unplanned interactions, knowledge sharing, and collaborative discussions that occur more naturally in the physical workplace have diminished. The hybrid work setting contains a shared social context in which the employees can interact more spontaneously. This finding aligns with the study of

Jawadi et al (2013) who state that social context is imperative for achieving collaboration. Suggesting that knowledge sharing, especially tacit knowledge, between teams and departments has decreased in a hybrid work setting and that the limited shared social context can hinder the flow of knowledge, idea exchanges, and innovations. This is further supported by Schoenherr et al (2014) who state that tacit knowledge is more likely to be created and transmitted in collaborative relationships.

The findings in this study suggest that there is a barrier to collaboration between colleagues they have a weaker relationship with. Multiple researchers argue that trust is a critical factor in facilitating effective knowledge sharing between individuals (Al-Alawi et al., 2007; Hau et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2011; Imam & Zaheer, 2021; Koskinen et al., 2003). The findings in this study indicate that employees are more inclined to reach out for help and feedback from colleagues they have a stronger relationship with. Dennis et al (2008) state that familiar communication contexts where employees are familiar with working together have a shorter convergence process. This suggest that employees are more comfortable reaching out to colleagues they have a stronger bond with, as trust have already established a level of trust and shared understanding, which could explain the findings in this study that employees choose to reach out to colleagues with whom they have experienced working together with for a longer period. The importance of trust is further supported by Abrams et al, who state that individuals are more inclined to ask for advice and information from colleagues they trust. aligning with the findings in this study. This finding resonates with the result of the current study, indicating that trust influences knowledge sharing behavior, as employees who have established trust are more likely to engage in knowledge exchange.

Moreover, it is found that problem-solving and creativity are more likely to occur in the office due to the possibility of receiving more impressions and nuances. This finding is in line with Dennis et al (2008) who state that more complex task and the need for richer information is more suited for high synchronicity media such as face-to-face interactions as social cues, body language, and vocal tone and the ability to transfer the message at a greater speed is easier. It can thus be argued from the findings in this study that tacit knowledge, ideation, creativity, and innovation are restricted in a digital context. Limited infrastructure that supports knowledge sharing and can lead to a decrease in exchange of knowledge, however, it can be overcome by allocating resources that support communication and collaboration (Riege, 2005). As the findings suggest that tacit knowledge sharing is more

likely to occur in the office, organizations should ensure that they allocate resources as they see fit so they can foster a collaborative culture environment.

Dennis et al (2008) state that novel communication context entails being unfamiliar with the media, task, and individual and that this context requires a higher synchronous media. The findings show that information conveyed online requires more time and effort from the employees and can contain unnecessary information. This corresponds with Dennis et al (2008) as the hybrid work setting is more unfamiliar compared to the physical work setting, meaning that this unfamiliarity could require more time from the employees as digital communication has lower synchronicity. Employees do not have enough knowledge about their colleague's prior knowledge and do not have a shared understanding, meaning sharing certain information digitally can limit the conveyance and convergence process. If the information is not effectively shared it could lead to incorrect conclusions as well as a barrier to reaching a shared understanding of the information (Dennis et al., 2008).

As the findings present a challenge to collaborate with colleagues from different teams and departments it can be argued that the hybrid work setting limits the chance of knowledge sharing between teams and departments. Further, sharing tacit knowledge is more challenging to share in digital communication and with colleagues outside one's immediate team.

### 5.3 Work Culture

The findings of the study indicate that the hybrid work setting has had a significant impact on the work culture, resulting in changes in communication and interactions among colleagues. One notable effect is the emergence of mistrust when employees work from home as there is no requirement for most of the respondents to enable their cameras during meetings, leading to a perceived need for increased monitoring of their colleagues' work. This finding suggests that trust may be compromised in a hybrid work environment, potentially influencing knowledge sharing and collaboration. As several researchers argue that face-to-face interactions create better relationships and build trust among employees (Allen et al., 2015; Holdt Christensen & Pedersen, 2018; Torro et al., 2022), not using the camera during digital meetings could result in a barrier for creating trust.

Additionally, the study reveals that social norms differ between working from home and being present in the office. The shift to remote work has created a different set of expectations and behaviors, potentially affecting how employees interact and share

knowledge with one another. The altered social dynamics may pose challenges to the development of trust and collaboration, as well as the exchange of tacit knowledge, which is often fostered through informal and spontaneous interactions. Creating a shared understanding of situations and tasks is essential for building trust and Mäkelä & Brewster (2009) state that shared experiences help in understanding each other as they are familiarized with their knowledge and language system which facilitates intuitively grasping the intended message. As the hybrid work setting has changed where and how employees communicate it could be argued that they need to relearn how their colleagues function in relation to the digital domain. This can be corroborated by Allen et al (2015) study where they state that the absence or limitation of regular face-to-face interactions can significantly impact the interpersonal processes between colleagues in a workplace.

When working from home the respondents stated that a greater focus can be achieved as there are less distractions from colleagues. Further, that the task they perform at home is more individual and have a low interdependence with colleagues. This focus could contribute to a higher productivity was aligns with the findings of Attaran et al (2019). However, this was the general experience that was presented in the findings meaning that all the respondent view working from home as a more individual work time. The findings further suggest that many of the respondents experienced disturbing their colleagues when they work from home because they are unsure what their colleagues are doing. It can be argued that since the respondent holds their own view that working from home is where they can have more focus and not be disturbed, they become more reluctant to reach out to their colleagues for help or feedback. This general view that working from home is where everyone does more individual tasks, could create a new norm in organizations that essentially hinders collaboration and knowledge sharing.

Moreover, the findings highlight the difficulty in maintaining a sense of belonging within the organization when working in a hybrid setting. The physical separation from colleagues and limited in-person interactions may hinder the establishment of strong interpersonal connections and a shared sense of purpose. This lack of connection and belonging could further impact trust levels and inhibit knowledge sharing among employees. This finding is in line with the study of Morganson et al (2010) who state that employees working in a hybrid work setting have a lower level of inclusion as compared to employees who work only in an office.

The study reveals that the hybrid work setting has contributed to a better balance between work and personal life for the respondents. Work and personal life can be better managed as commuting is reduced, leaving more time for engaging in activities, responsibilities, and family. Aligning with Morganson et al study (2010) which states that the hybrid work setting allows for more flexibility and the ability to balance work and personal life. This improved work-life balance can have positive implications for employee well-being and productivity which can be corroborated by Attaran et al (2019) findings that show that the flexibility in the work model has a positive impact on their health and productivity and engagement.

# 5.3.1 Strategies & Work Structure

The findings in this study highlight the absence of clear strategies and work processes specifically designed for the hybrid work environment. In the findings, it is suggested there is a lack of guidance and framework for measuring work output and fostering work relationships in the digital context. The respondents highlighted the importance of facilitating interactions between colleagues, both in the office and during remote work. They emphasized the need for relaxed and spontaneous communication channels that extend beyond workrelated topics, fostering a sense of community and collaboration. Allen et al (2015) state that it is crucial for organizations to have a support system for hybrid work to effectively function. Furthermore, the evaluation of work in a hybrid setting was discussed, with a call for the development of new assessment methods that accommodate the unique dynamics of remote and office-based work. Organizational digital strategies are emphasized to be an important factor in creating an effective digital workplace and need to adapt to the organizational culture and facilitate collaboration and flexible work (Williams & Schubert, 2018). The authors state that by using versatile communication tools and technologies the negative effects of reduced face-to-face interaction can be mitigated. Further, they stress the importance of agile strategies that can adapt to future needs and requirements, ensuring that employees can conduct their work and collaborations in an effective manner. Reige (2007) states that there are several barriers to knowledge sharing that can be overcome by implementing certain actions.

The findings indicate that employees are experiencing a lack of strategies and frameworks regarding different aspects of the hybrid work. As Allen et al (2015) and Williams & Schubert (2018) argue that support and strategies in the hybrid work setting are essential, it could be argued that organizations are lacking in this area, which could lead to the emergence

of new issues and challenges. As the findings suggest, there are several barriers to knowledge sharing and Reige (2007) states that organizations need to create supportive tools, structure, and processes for overcoming this. This further argues that organizations that offer a hybrid work setting need to ensure that they have multiple supporting strategies and frameworks that enable employees to share knowledge.

## 6.0 Conclusion

In this section, the main findings and conclusions are presented. The section is divided into three parts where part one provides an answer to the research question. Part two presents the theoretical and practical implications of the findings, and the third part suggests future research that could be conducted with this research as a base and the limitations of this study.

## 6.1 Answer to Research Question

In conclusion, this study aimed to investigate the effects of adopting a hybrid work setting on the creation and building of trust among employees and the extent to which knowledge is shared. The findings shed light on the factors that influence the development of trust in a hybrid work setting and the impact this work model has on knowledge sharing within organizations. The research question is "How does a hybrid work setting affect trust and knowledge sharing between employees?" and this study has revealed that the adoption of the hybrid work setting has both positive and negative effects on trust and knowledge sharing. Further, new insights have been gained regarding this growing phenomenon and the challenges and opportunities it creates for employees and organizations.

Trust has been impacted in both a positive and negative way in the hybrid work setting. The physical separation and increased reliance on digital communication has been presented to create challenges for employees to foster trust. Personal relationships are stated to be more difficult to foster and it requires a longer period of time to build trust in this work model. The hybrid work setting poses challenges as digital communication is not as effective in creating spontaneous interactions that are informal which is a crucial element in the process of building and maintaining relationships. In this study, it has been clear the hybrid work setting mostly affects the building of trust negatively between new colleagues. The lack of shared experiences and the limitation of physical social context has been found to be a challenge when establishing a new relationship. However, as the hybrid work setting combines both a physical and a digital workplace there are opportunities for trust to be fostered and maintained through intentional efforts and the effective use of technology.

The flexibility and autonomy provided by a hybrid work setting enhanced productivity and collaborations as employees have better work-life balance and control over their work environment. It is easier to coordinate work when combining physical and digital communication leading to more efficient collaborations. This creates more opportunities to

collaborate as it increases shared experiences which help with fostering trust among employees. However, there is a general view that working from home is connected more to conducting individual work creating an imbalance in where and how employees collaborate. Organizations must ensure that the combined working model facilitates and fosters a collaborative culture, encouraging frequent and meaningful interactions in both the physical and digital space.

The study further highlights that there are challenges for spontaneous collaborations outside of employees' immediate teams. This has a negative effect on knowledge sharing in a hybrid work setting as it limits the ability to interact and collaborate between teams. The shared social context is reduced, thus decreasing the flow of knowledge as teams are more isolated and less integrated with the whole organization. In the hybrid work setting opportunities for sharing explicit knowledge have increased, and information is more effectively documented. This creates a stronger and larger knowledge base for organizations and the opportunity to share knowledge across the entire organization with more ease. Tacit knowledge however was affected negatively as this type of knowledge is transferred more naturally occurring in the physical workspace, and since the hybrid work setting decreased the opportunities for physical interaction, tacit knowledge is restricted in the work model. However, the hybrid work setting also present opportunities for collaboration and knowledge sharing as it provides access to diverse perspectives and expertise across departments if the organization implement tools and strategies for cross-collaboration that facilitates interactions that generate ideation, creativity, and innovation both within teams and across the organization.

# 6.2 Implications & Contributions

### 6.2.1 Theoretical Implications

The study contributes to the existing literature on trust and knowledge sharing by exploring the impact of the hybrid work setting. The findings in this study align with several findings in previous literature and further strengthens that fostering trust between employees is more effective in a physical workplace (Al-Alawi et al, 2007; Chirstensen & Pedersen, 2018; Darics, 2020). Further, the digital workplace impedes personal relationships as rich and frequent interactions are more difficult to engage in digitally. As previous literature has stated that trust and knowledge sharing can be facilitated in a combination of physical and digital workplaces, this study further emphasizes the importance of both physical and digital

interaction for building trust and sharing knowledge. Previous research shows that tacit knowledge is often exchanged through shared experiences (Ouakouak & Ouedraogo, 2019) and is connected to being able to convey nuances and richer communication (Parlamis & Dibble, 2018). This study can corroborate existing research as it demonstrates tacit knowledge is more challenging in a digital work setting and often occurs in the physical workplace where shared experiences are more frequent.

The study contributes to theoretical knowledge by deepening the understanding of trust, knowledge sharing, relationship building, and collaboration in the context of hybrid work. It provides insight into the opportunities and challenges that are related to this work model and offers suggestions for organizations on how they can create a supportive and collaborative environment. Increasing the chance for successful hybrid work.

### 6.2.2 Practical Implications

The findings in this study have found that there is a lack of strategies regarding the hybrid work setting. As this model poses both challenges and opportunities for fostering trust and knowledge sharing, organizations should implement strategies that can facilitate this. Organizations and leaders should focus on creating a work culture that supports and embraces the hybrid work setting. This includes providing necessary resources and technologies to facilitate effective digital communication and collaboration among employees.

The findings of this study suggest that organizations and leaders need to be mindful of the importance of fostering non-work-related relationships even in a hybrid work. Strategies should be implemented to provide opportunities for employees to engage in informal interactions and socialize virtually. This could include virtual social events, team-building activities, or dedicated communication channels for non-work conversations. By recognizing the significance of non-work-related relationships and actively addressing this aspect of communication, organizations can support the development of trust and enhance collaboration in a hybrid work setting. Organizations should not just focus on creating these opportunities to interact in the physical workplace as it is difficult to coordinate for all employees from different teams and departments to be in the office at the same time. Instead, promote cross-team and department activities digitally to ensure more frequent interactions and opportunities for collaboration.

As the hybrid work setting has led to isolation between teams and departments organizations and leaders should create opportunities for employees to have shared experiences such as virtual team-building activities, collaborative projects, and regular in-person meetings. This further helps with fostering a sense of belonging in the organization and helps build trust among employees and creates a work culture that supports and enables employees to share knowledge. It is important to acknowledge the balance between individual and collaborative work and the importance of encouraging employees to collaborate in both the physical and digital workplace while also providing dedicated time and space for more individual work.

Organizations and leaders should be aware of how the hybrid work setting can affect the process of building trust and sharing knowledge when new employees are hired. They should recognize the challenges that physical separation and digital communication have and ensure that they have the right support and tools to integrate the employee. The onboarding process in a hybrid work setting should focus on effectively integrating the employee into the organization and in the team. By tailoring the onboarding process to the dynamics of a hybrid work setting, organizations can establish a strong foundation for trust and knowledge sharing among new employees and current employees and promote a sense of belonging and collaboration.

Overall, organizations and leaders should recognize the opportunities that the hybrid work setting entails if properly implemented. It enables collaborations to a wider extent within the organization and fosters greater knowledge sharing. Further, it allows employees to be more flexible in their work which leads to higher motivation and increased productivity.

### 6.2 Limitations & Future Research

The findings in this study may be limited to the specific context and participants involved as the study was conducted on Swedish employees in the greater area of Gothenburg. This limits the generalizability of the result to other geographical places and industries. Further, as there was no significant difference between the three industries suggesting that the impact of a hybrid work setting is not influenced by a specific industry. This could potentially indicate that unmeasured factors have been overlooked in this study.

This study focused on employee's perception of the hybrid work setting, and I proposed that future research could investigate how leader facilitates for trust and knowledge sharing and what challenges and opportunities they believe the hybrid work setting have. Further, future

research can be conducted where organizational structure and hierarchy are investigated to understand if these factors could influence trust and knowledge sharing in the hybrid work setting. Additionally, explore the role of management practices within the different organizational structures to shed light on how these factors influence trust and knowledge sharing.

# 7.0 References

### 7.1 Articles

- Abdelwhab Ali, A., Panneer selvam, D. D. D., Paris, L., & Gunasekaran, A. (2019). Key factors influencing knowledge sharing practices and its relationship with organizational performance within the oil and gas industry. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 23(9), 1806–1837. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-06-2018-0394
- Abrams, L. C., Cross, R., Lesser, E., & Levin, D. Z. (2003). Nurturing Interpersonal Trust in Knowledge-Sharing Networks. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 17(4), 64–77.
- Al-Alawi, A. I., Al-Marzooqi, N. Y., & Mohammed, Y. F. (2007). Organizational culture and knowledge sharing: Critical success factors. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 11(2), 22–42. https://doi.org/10.1108/13673270710738898
- Allen, T. D., Golden, T. D., & Shockley, K. M. (2015). How effective is telecommuting? Assessing the status of our scientific findings. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, *16*(2), 40–68. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100615593273
- Ardichvili, A. (2008). Learning and Knowledge Sharing in Virtual Communities of Practice: Motivators, Barriers, and Enablers. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 10(4), 541–554. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422308319536
- Attaran, M., Attaran, S., & Kirkland, D. (2019). *Handbook of Research on Social and Organizational Dynamics in the Digital Era* (E. C. Idemudia, Ed.). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-8933-4
- Bolisani, E., Scarso, E., Ipsen, C., Kirchner, K., & Hansen, J. P. (2020). Working from home during COVID-19 pandemic: Lessons learned and issues. *Management and Marketing*, 15(s1), 458–476. https://doi.org/10.2478/mmcks-2020-0027
- Chiu, C.-M., Hsu, M.-H., & Wang, E. T. G. (2006). Understanding knowledge sharing in virtual communities: An integration of social capital and social cognitive theories. *DECISION SUPPORT SYSTEMS*, *42*(3), 1872–1888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2006.04.001
- Collins, C. J., & Smith, K. G. (2006). Knowledge Exchange and Combination: The Role of Human Resource Practices in the Performance of High-Technology Firms. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49(3), 544–560. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMJ.2006.21794671
- Constant, D., Kiesler, S., & Sproull, L. (1994). What's Mine Is Ours, or Is It? A Study of Attitudes about Information Sharing. *Information Systems Research*, *5*(4), 400–421. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.5.4.400
- Cui, X., Huo, B., Lei, Y., & Zhou, Q. (2020). The influence of team social media usage on individual knowledge sharing and job performance from a cross-level perspective. *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*, 40(5), 553–573. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-04-2019-0311

- da Silva, A. B., Castello-Sirvent, F., & Canos-Daros, L. (2022). Sensible Leaders and Hybrid Working: Challenges for Talent Management. *Sustainability (Basel, Switzerland)*, 14(24), 16883. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142416883
- Darics, E. (2020). E-Leadership or "How to Be Boss in Instant Messaging?" The Role of Nonverbal Communication. *International Journal of Business Communication* (*Thousand Oaks, Calif.*), 57(1), 3–29.
- Deng, H., Duan, S. X., & Wibowo, S. (2023). Digital technology driven knowledge sharing for job performance. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 27(2), 404–425. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-08-2021-0637
- Dennis, A. R., Fuller, R. M., & Valacich, J. S. (2008). Media, Tasks, and Communication Processes: A Theory of Media Synchronicity. *MIS Quarterly*, *32*(3), 575–600. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148857
- Dirks, K. T., & de Jong, B. (2022). Trust Within the Workplace: A Review of Two Waves of Research and a Glimpse of the Third. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 9(1), 247–276. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-012420-083025
- Gagné, M., Tian, A. W., Soo, C., Zhang, B., Ho, K. S. B., & Hosszu, K. (2019). Different motivations for knowledge sharing and hiding: The role of motivating work design. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 40(7), 783–799.
- Gajendran, R. S., Loewenstein, J., Choi, H., & Ozgen, S. (2022). Hidden costs of text-based electronic communication on complex reasoning tasks: Motivation maintenance and impaired downstream performance. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 169, 104130.
- Halisah, A., Jayasingam, S., Ramayah, T., & Popa, S. (2020). Social dilemmas in knowledge sharing: an examination of the interplay between knowledge sharing culture and performance climate. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 25(7), 1708–1725. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-08-2020-0631
- Hau, Y. S., Kim, B., Lee, H., & Kim, Y.-G. (2013). The effects of individual motivations and social capital on employees' tacit and explicit knowledge sharing intentions. *International Journal of Information Management*, *33*(2), 356–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2012.10.009
- Holdt Christensen, P. (2007). Knowledge sharing: moving away from the obsession with best practices. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 11(1), 36–47. https://doi.org/10.1108/13673270710728222
- Holdt Christensen, P., & Pedersen, T. (2018). The dual influences of proximity on knowledge sharing. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 22(8), 1782–1802. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-03-2018-0211
- Hsu, M.-H., Ju, T. L., Yen, C.-H., & Chang, C.-M. (2007). Knowledge sharing behavior in virtual communities: The relationship between trust, self-efficacy, and outcome expectations. *International Journal of Human Computer Studies*, 65(2), 153–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2006.09.003

- Huang, Q., Davison, R. M., & Gu, J. (2011). The impact of trust, guanxi orientation and face on the intention of Chinese employees and managers to engage in peer-to-peer tacit and explicit knowledge sharing. *Information Systems Journal (Oxford, England)*, 21(6), 557–577.
- Imam, H., & Zaheer, M. K. (2021). Shared leadership and project success: The roles of knowledge sharing, cohesion and trust in the team. *International Journal of Project Management*, 39(5), 463–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2021.02.006
- Jawadi, N., Daassi, M., Favier, M., & Kalika, M. (2013). Relationship building in virtual teams: A leadership behavioral complexity perspective. *Human Systems Management*, 32(3), 199–211. https://doi.org/10.3233/HSM-130791
- Koskinen, K. U., Pihlanto, P., & Vanharanta, H. (2003). Tacit knowledge acquisition and sharing in a project work context. *International Journal of Project Management*, 21(4), 281–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0263-7863(02)00030-3
- Mäkelä, K., & Brewster, C. (2009). Interunit interaction contexts, interpersonal social capital, and the differing levels of knowledge sharing. *Human Resource Management*, 48(4), 591–613. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.20300
- Matošková, J., Bartók, O., & Tomancová, L. (2022). The relation between employee characteristics and knowledge sharing. *VINE Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems*, 52(4), 486–507. https://doi.org/10.1108/VJIKMS-05-2020-0092
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. (1995). An Integrative Model of Organizational Trust. *The Academy of Management Review*, 20(3), 709–734. https://doi.org/10.2307/258792
- McAllister, D. J. (1995). Affect- and Cognition-Based Trust as Foundations for Interpersonal Cooperation in Organizations. *Academy of Management Journal*, *38*(1), 24–59. https://doi.org/10.5465/256727
- Mesmer-Magnus, J. R., & DeChurch, L. A. (2009). Information Sharing and Team Performance: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *94*(2), 535–546. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013773
- Morgan, L., Paucar-Caceres, A., & Wright, G. (2014). Leading Effective Global Virtual Teams: The Consequences of Methods of Communication. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*, 27(6), 607–624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213-014-9315-2
- Morganson, V. J., Major, D. A., Oborn, K. L., Verive, J. M., & Heelan, M. P. (2010). Comparing telework locations and traditional work arrangements: Differences in work-life balance support, job satisfaction, and inclusion. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 25(6), 578–595. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683941011056941
- Ouakouak, M. L., & Ouedraogo, N. (2019). Fostering knowledge sharing and knowledge utilization: The impact of organizational commitment and trust. *Business Process Management Journal*, 25(4), 757–779.
- Parlamis, J., & Dibble, R. (2019). Teaming: Are two communication modes better than one? *Team Performance Management*, 25(5/6), 318–333.

- Riege, A. (2005). Three-dozen knowledge-sharing barriers managers must consider. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 9(3), 18–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/13673270510602746
- Riege, A. (2007). Actions to overcome knowledge transfer barriers in MNCs. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 11(1), 48–67. https://doi.org/10.1108/13673270710728231
- Schoenherr, T., Griffith, D. A., & Chandra, A. (2014). Knowledge Management in Supply Chains: The Role of Explicit and Tacit Knowledge. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 35(2), 121–135.
- Tønnessen, Ø., Dhir, A., & Flåten, B.-T. (2021). Digital knowledge sharing and creative performance: Work from home during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120866
- Torro, O., Pirkkalainen, H., & Li, H. (2022). Media synchronicity in organizational social exchange. *Information Technology & People (West Linn, Or.)*, *35*(8), 162–180. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-06-2020-0384
- Wang, S., & Noe, R. A. (2010). Knowledge sharing: A review and directions for future research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 20(2), 115–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2009.10.001
- Wang, Z., & Wang, N. (2012). Knowledge sharing, innovation and firm performance. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *39*(10), 8899–8908. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2012.02.017
- Williams, S. P., & Schubert, P. (2018). Designs for the digital workplace. *Procedia Computer Science*, *138*, 478–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2018.10.066

# 7.2 Books, Documents, Report, and Managerial Articles

Bell, E., Bryman, A., & Harley, B. (2019). Business research methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.

Donley, A. (2012). Research methods, student handbook to sociology. Infobase Learning.

Lund, S., Madgavkar, A., Manyika, J., Smit, S., Ellingrud, K., & Robinson, O. (2021). The future of work after COVID-19. Mckinsey Global Institute, 18 February. https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/future-of-work/the-future-of-work-after-covid-19

Patel, R. (2019). Spur innovation by sharing knowledge enterprisewide. *Forbes*, March 28. https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesinsights/2020/01/15/diversity-confirmed-to-boost-innovation-and-financial-results/

Statista. (2022). How many days during an average working week do you want to work from home after the pandemic? Statista Inc. https://www-statista-com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/statistics/1295767/sweden-attitude-after-covid-19/ [2023-01-10]

Svanberg, E. (2022). Hybrid work in Swedish offices is here to stay. Svenska Dagbladet, 8 August. https://www.svd.se/a/dnoJ2w/hybridarbete-pa-svenska-kontor-har-for-att-stanna

# 8.0 Appendix

# 8.1 Appendix 1. Interview guide

I first want to ask also to ask you if it is possible for me to record the interview with your permission? If there are any questions you don't understand or don't wish to answer just let me know and I will explain or move over to the next question.

### **Introductory Questions:**

- For how long have you worked for the case company?
- What is your current role at the case company?
- What are your main responsibilities in this role?
- How often do you work from home?
- Do you decide on your own when you work from home or are there rules/guidelines?
- How many in your team also work in a hybrid setting?
- If there are guidelines, could you describe them?

### **Theme 1: Digital Tools**

First, I want to clarify what we mean by digital tools. Digital tools are the technical tools used for work, for example, communication, structuring, calculation, or collaboration. This can include components ranging from computers to mobile devices, and various business systems that can simplify work tasks and delivery of work. It can also include various systems such as chat functions, email, video calls, etc.

- How would you describe that your company works with digital tools? Are all the tools possible to use from home?
- How would you describe using digital tools in your daily work? And for what means? How much?
- In what ways is your work affected by digital tools? What is simplified or made more difficult?
- How have you experienced the change from working physically on-site to working more digitally in collaboration with colleagues

### Theme 2: Communication, and Colleagues

- Through what digital means or tools do you communicate with your colleagues? -
- How would you describe the difference between communicating face-to-face versus digitally?
- What are the challenges you have experienced in the hybrid model regarding communication?
- What are the opportunities you have experienced in the hybrid work setting regarding communication?
- How do you believe these challenges and opportunities have affected your relationship with your colleagues?
- Is there something you feel lacks when working in a hybrid setting? Why? How does this affect your relationship with your colleagues?
- How do you perceive relationship building to be affected when working in a hybrid setting?

### Theme 3: Trust in a hybrid work setting

- What is trust according to you? and in connection with your colleagues?
- How do you think the trust between you and your colleagues has been affected by working both virtually and physically?
- What do you believe is the biggest challenge to build trust?
- Do you think there are any areas of improvement that your colleagues can work with to create trust in a hybrid setting?
- How do you think that this work model can affect your relationship with your colleagues in the future? What are the positive and negative outcomes?

### Theme 4: Knowledge sharing

Knowledge sharing refers to the process of exchanging information between people, teams, or organizations. This knowledge may be explicit/concrete, which comes from documents or procedures, or tacit/more abstract, meaning it is developed from experience.

- How do you experience your collaboration with your colleagues when operating from home?
- What are the challenges have you experienced when collaborating in a hybrid work setting?
- What are the opportunities you have experienced when collaborating in a hybrid work setting?
- Do you have a knowledge sharing exchange with your colleagues in your daily work?If yes: how?
- How do you experience sharing knowledge and conveying information in the digital work and physical work?
- What are the challenges you have experienced when sharing knowledge in the hybrid work setting? Can you give an example of when knowledge sharing was made more difficult when working from home?
- What are the opportunities you have experienced when sharing knowledge in the hybrid work setting? Can you give an example of when knowledge sharing was made easier when working from home?
- How do you experience the success of sharing knowledge when you work at home compared to working in the office?
- What type of knowledge do you think is important to share? How do you think that these different types of knowledge can be shared in the different work settings?

### Concluding questions

- Is there something else that you would like to add now that we have approached the end of the interview that you might believe is of importance?
- Do you have any follow-up questions connected to this interview? Or something else you want to ask before we end?

# 8.2 Appendix 2. Consent form

# The hybrid work setting – a qualitative study on employees' perception and experiences in this work model

#### Study aim

The aim of the study is to investigate and explore how employees have experienced working in a hybrid work setting. Further, what challenges and opportunities have arisen in this work model. To answer this question, I want to hear more about what you as an employee experience.

#### Who am I?

The study I am conducting is my master's thesis within the Master Program in Innovation and Industrial Management, at the University of Gothenburg. The study is conducted independently by me, Erica Bredberg.

#### **Data Collection**

The data collection will consist of qualitative interviews that will be recorded with the permission of the participants.

### Voluntary participation and non-disclosure

Participation is voluntary and confidential, and participation will be anonymous. Participants can choose to cancel their participation at any time and have the right to withdraw from the study if they wish. Personal names are not registered, and participants will be given a pseudonym or number when interviews are transcribed and analyzed. This also applies to the organization.

### Handling of collected material

In the final thesis, extracts from interviews may be cited and given a pseudonym. The collected material and interview transcriptions will not be used for any purpose other than the study's scientific research purpose. Recordings will be erased after the conclusion of the project.

#### **Results and publication**

The results of the study will be published in the form of a master's thesis completed in June 2023. The essay can be provided to participants if requested.

For questions and further information please contact: Erica Bredberg Tel: 0705 68 33 70

Mail: erica.bredberg@outlook.com

### **Consent Form**

Research student: Erica Bredberg

**Program**: Master's in Innovation and Industrial Management, University of Gothenburg, School of Business, Economics, and Law

- The interview will be recorded, with the respondent's approval.
- Collected data will be analyzed by Erica Bredberg
- The material collected, such as notes and recordings, will only be available to authorized people.
- Access to the data will be limited to Erica Bredberg. My supervisors and examinators may need access to part of the transcripts.
- The recordings, transcripts, and notes will be deleted after the thesis is handed in and accepted.

\_

### By signing this form, I agree on:

- Voluntarily participate in the above-mentioned thesis project.
- I understand that I at any time can withdraw from participating in the study.
- The collected material from the interviews will be used only for the purposes described above.
- I have read and understood the information and consent form.

Date and Signature